Public Document Pack

Rother District Council

Audit and Standards Committee

Date and Time - Wednesday 28 February 2024 - 6:30pm

Venue - Council Chamber, Town Hall, Bexhill-on-Sea



Councillors appointed to the Committee:

B.J. Drayson (Chair), J. Barnes (MBE) (Vice-Chair), A.E. Biggs, Mrs V. Cook (exofficio), P.J. Gray, A.P. Hayward, S.B. McGurk, C. Pearce and R.B. Thomas.

Audit Independent Person: Mr Patrick Farmer

AGENDA

1. MINUTES

To authorise the Chair to sign the Minutes of the meeting of the Audit and Standards Committee held on 4 December 2023 as a correct record of the proceedings.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

3. ADDITIONAL AGENDA ITEMS

To consider such other items as the Chair decides are urgent and due notice of which has been given to the Head of Paid Service by 12 Noon on the day of the meeting.

4. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS

To receive any disclosures by Members of disclosable pecuniary interests / other registerable interests / non-registerable interests in matters on the agenda and the nature of any interest and details of any dispensations obtained. Members are reminded of the need to repeat their declaration immediately prior to the commencement of the item in question.

PART A - STANDARDS REPORTS

- 5. LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN COMPLAINTS MONITORING (Pages 3 12)
- 6. **DEBATE NOT HATE: ENDING ABUSE IN PUBLIC LIFE FOR COUNCILLORS** (Pages 13 62)

This agenda can be made available in large print, Braille, audiotape/CD or in another language upon request.

For all enquiries – please contact louise.hollingsworth@rother.gov.uk
(Tel: 01424 787815)

Rother District Council putting residents at the heart of everything we do.

PART B - AUDIT REPORTS

- 7. REPORT OF THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR, GRANT THORNTON AUDIT FINDINGS REPORT 2022/23 TO FOLLOW
- 8. **REVISED STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2022/23** (Pages 63 66)
- 9. AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION FUNCTION OF THE LICENSING AND GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE (Pages 67 70)
- 10. **AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION PROCUREMENT AND VIREMENT THRESHOLDS** (Pages 71 74)
- 11. **HOMES ENGLAND 2023/24 COMPLIANCE AUDIT PROGRAMME** (Pages 75 80)
- 12. **WORK PROGRAMME** (Pages 81 84)

Lorna Ford Chief Executive

Agenda Despatch Date: 20 February 2024

Invitees in respect of Standards Related Reports only:

Independent Persons: Mr Robert Brown and Mrs Rose Durban.

Parish/Town Councillor Representative(s): Councillors Mrs W.M. Miers and K. Robertson

Rother District Council

Report to: **Audit and Standards Committee**

Date: 28 February 2024

Title: Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman

Complaints Monitoring

Report of: Mark Adams, Head of Digital and Customer Services

Purpose of Report: To receive an update on the number of Local

Government and Social Care Ombudsman complaints

received since the last report in June 2023.

Officer

Recommendation(s): It be **RESOLVED**: That the report be noted.

1. Details of the complaints made to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) are reported to the Committee in June and December each year. This report was moved to February 2024 due to the volume of reports being presented to this Committee in December 2023. 10 cases have been determined since the Committee last considered these complaints on 19 June 2023 and are detailed below:

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Complaints			
Reference	Details of the Allegation	Outcome	
22 013 422	Planning Enforcement Customer complained about the Council's decision to approve a neighbour's planning application and its failure to take enforcement action about breaches of planning control on the site.	Upheld Fault was only found with the Council's complaint handling and not planning enforcement action. An apology was issued and a compensation payment of £250.	
23 000 687	Planning Enforcement Customer complained that the Council failed to enforce planning condition for a neighbouring business next door along with dissatisfaction with how his concerns were dealt with.	Upheld Some fault had been found in the delay in pursuing compliance to one of the conditions. An apology was issued and a compensation payment of £250.	
22 018 207	Planning Enforcement Customer alleges the Council failed to take enforcement action relating to alleged planning breaches caused by a neighbouring development.	Not Upheld No evidence of fault was found.	

23 005 371	Planning Application Customer alleges the Council failed to approve a planning application for a change of use of land near their home.	Not Upheld No evidence of fault was found in the decision-making process.
23 003 867	Planning The customer alleges the Council failed to follow the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 by allowing neighbours' development to proceed. Customer also alleges the planning officers report contained errors and that there was a breach in copyright by the architect.	Not Investigated No fault found in the Council acceptance of the ownership certificates. Any errors in the officer report were deemed as minor and do not mislead the Council.
23 004 974	Planning The customer complained the Council has refused to take enforcement action against a business premises near their home.	Not investigated Insufficient evidence of fault to justify further investigation.
23 006 057	Planning Customer complained that the Council has not fully explained its decision to grant planning permission for changes to their neighbour's home and that their back garden is now overlooked by new dormer windows.	Not investigated Not enough evidence of fault to justify an investigation.
23 010 063	Planning Enforcement Customer was aggrieved at the Council's decision not to take enforcement action against a neighbour for breaching planning conditions regarding window blinds.	Not Investigated Insufficient evidence of fault in the decision- making process and the outcome does not cause sufficient significant personal injustice to warrant an investigation.
23 013 491	Planning Customer complained about two Councillors who he alleges failed to declare pecuniary interests in relation to an organisation they were connected to receiving public funds.	Not investigated There is insufficient personal injustice caused and the matter is essentially for the police.
22 017 296	Planning Customer alleges that a planning application for upgrading a telephone mast has been improperly considered.	Not investigated There is insufficient injustice to warrant investigation and a legal remedy has been sought.

A total of 10 complaints were made to the LGSCO covering the period 24 May 2. 2023 to 12 February 2024. All of the Ombudsman complaints for this period relate to planning and were determined as follows:

- two were upheld (Council's actions were at fault).
- two were not upheld (no fault found in the Council's actions).
- six were not investigated.

Details of these complaints have been published on the LGSCO's website: https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions

Learning outcomes as a result of the LGSCO complaints:

- not to delay complaint investigation until planning decision is made;
- implemented improved escalations to managers and senior managers if a complaint investigation is significantly overdue. A global reminder was issued to all levels of management regarding complaint investigation priority; and
- ensure all matters of a complaint are responded to.
- 3. Rother received 134 non-ombudsman complaints from 24 May 2023 to 12 February 2024, of which:
 - 83 of these were non-complaints (treated as department service request).
 - 17 were resolved at initial stage (non-formal complaint resolution).
 - 24 were Stage 1 Complaints.
 - 10 were Stage 2 Complaints.
 - 0 were treated as vexatious.

	Non-Ombudsman Complaints			
Reference	Details of the Allegation	Outcome	Department	
STAGE 1 - 4712	Customer unhappy with how she has been treated by staff and her temporary accommodation conditions in relation to her disabilities.	Closed at initial stage - Resolved	Housing	
STAGE 1 - 8413	Customer aggrieved by the receipt of demands for Council Tax payments stating that the charge is incorrect.	Closed at initial stage - Resolved	Council Tax	
STAGE 1 - 3745	Customer unhappy with the delay in processing a request for a refund.	Closed at initial stage - Resolved	Customer Services	
STAGE 1 - 1461	Complaints in relation to Travellers setting a temporary encampment in Broad Oak Park and the delay in the Council's response to dealing with alleged anti-social behaviour.	Closed at initial stage - Resolved	Customer Services	

	Customer semplained in		
STAGE 1 - 7081	Customer complained in relation to how her call was handled by a member of the customer services team and that her bin has not been emptied due to issues around access.	Closed at initial stage - Resolved	Customer Services
STAGE 1 - 7774	Customer aggrieved that we will not supply a recycling bin due to continual attacks by the local wildlife.	Closed at initial stage - Resolved	Neighbourhood Services and Contracts - Waste
STAGE 1 - 8032	Customer unhappy with the long delay in the application of a Tree Preservation Order appearing on the Council's system.	Closed at initial stage - Resolved	Development Management
STAGE 1 - 6666	Customer aggrieved at the loss of their 50% Council Tax deduction following offering temporary / emergency accommodation to Rother. They feel they have not been correctly informed of the consequence of trying to assist the homeless.	Closed at initial stage - Resolved	Council Tax
STAGE 1 - 3582	Customer complained in relation to their planning application and the handling of this.	Closed at initial stage - Resolved	Development Management
STAGE 1 - 6173	Customer complained in relation to the length of time of being placed in temporary accommodation (January 2022) to them being declared homeless and placed in band A for bidding (November 2022).	Closed at initial stage - Resolved	Housing
STAGE 1 - 6429	Customer aggrieved at the advice given to refer them to contact the Valuation Office Agency in relation to their empty property and feels Rother mis-understood their situation.	Closed at initial stage - Resolved	Council Tax

STAGE 1 - 9286	Customer aggrieved at the length of time taken for planning enforcement to respond to their enquiries and to take formal action.	Closed at initial stage - Resolved	Planning and Environmental Enforcement
STAGE 1 - 0093	Customer aggrieved at the length of time taken to deal with their planning application particularly as it related to flooding issues.	Responded at Stage 1 - Not Upheld	Development Management
STAGE 1 - 8882	Customer made a complaint in relation to their brown bin continually not being returned to its collection point.	Closed at initial stage - Resolved	Neighbourhood Services and Contracts - Waste
STAGE 1 - 8718	Garden waste bin keeps being left on the public footpath and the refuse collector was very rude when challenged.	Closed at initial stage - Resolved	Neighbourhood Services and Contracts - Waste
STAGE 1 - 2480	Customer unhappy with not being entitled to the alternative fuel payment when they feel they meet the criteria.	Responded at Stage 1 - Partially Upheld	Benefits
STAGE 1 - 6165	Customer complained in relation to the handling of their environmental health complaint regarding damp in a private rented property and take action under section 80 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990.	Closed at initial stage - Advised of Stage 2	Private Sector Housing
STAGE 1 - 0993	Customer unhappy with the delay in pre-planning application advice when trying to purchase a property.	Responded at Stage 1 - Not Upheld	Planning Business Support
STAGE 1 - 0976	Customer complained in relation to the delay in housing allocations processing new information that would entitle them to an additional bedroom requirement.	Responded at Stage 1 - Not Upheld	Housing
STAGE 1 - 8813	Customer aggrieved at the non-action of planning enforcement following an alleged breach being	Responded at Stage 1 - Not Upheld	Planning and Environmental Enforcement

	reported		
STAGE 1 - 3842	Customer alleges that Rother District Council has failed to follow the Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local Authorities.	Responded at Stage 1 - Partially Upheld	Housing
STAGE 1 - 8353	Customer aggrieved at the lack of consultation regarding the removal of the Section 52 agreement protecting the area of agricultural land off Fryatts Way.	Responded at Stage 1 - Not Upheld	Development Management
STAGE 1 - 9039	Customer alleged that they have been treated with neglect and care regarding their situation.	Responded at Stage 1 - Not Upheld	Housing
STAGE 1 - 5711	Customer complained in relation to the handling of their mother's housing benefit and Council Tax reduction claim.	Responded at Stage 1 - Partially Upheld	Benefits
STAGE 1 - 8040	Customer unhappy with the lack of explanation as to why the Council is not taking enforcement action against the alleged breach.	Responded at Stage 1 - Not Upheld	Development Management
STAGE 1 - 8980	Customer unhappy that their bin has not returned to agreed place but left at curtilage as they are on an assisted collection.	Closed at initial stage - Resolved	Neighbourhood Services and Contracts - Waste
STAGE 1 - 4369	Customer aggrieved at the retrospective granting of a planning application following the land owner being subject to various enforcement notices.	Responded at Stage 1 - Not Upheld	Development Management
STAGE 1 - 1806	Customer complained that their late relative's burial location has not been positioned as per their families' wishes. Customer also aggrieved with the manner in which the graveside had been left by Rother's contractors.	Responded at Stage 1 - Partially Upheld	Neighbourhood Services and Contracts - Other
STAGE 1 - 9865	Customer unhappy with the impact of the development at Worsham	Responded at Stage 1 - Not Upheld	Development Management

	Farm as it differs from the plans they viewed and they are requesting compensation for the effect on their health, wellbeing and on the value of their property.		
STAGE 1 - 5600	Customer complained regarding their homelessness application and the long delays in processing this.	Responded at Stage 1 - Not Upheld	Housing
STAGE 1 - 0853	Customer alleges that Rother has not acted in the interests of residents by the granting of a lease to the Bexhill Heritage Society and the impact the loud music is having.	Responded at Stage 1 - Not Upheld	Neighbourhood Services and Contracts - Other
STAGE 1 - 8161	Customer complained in relation to the granting of planning permission for mobile telephone mast and failed to accept comments.	Responded at Stage 1 - Not Upheld	Development Management
STAGE 1 - 5787	Customer complained in relation to the poor service for the non-collection of their small electrical items.	Responded at Stage 1 - Upheld	Neighbourhood Services and Contracts - Waste
STAGE 1 - 1468	Customer aggrieved in relation to the granting of a planning application due to the impact on their privacy and amenity to neighbouring properties.	Responded at Stage 1 - Not Upheld	Development Management
STAGE 1 - 0459	Customer unhappy with the Council Tax charge decision following their home being uninhabitable due to flooding and the loss of the 25% single person discount as a result of this.	Responded at Stage 1 - Upheld	Council Tax
STAGE 1 - 7236	Customer unhappy with the removal of the recycling point in the area.	Closed at initial stage - Resolved	Neighbourhood Services and Contracts - Waste
STAGE 1 - 1764	Customer aggrieved with the housing allocation process and the frustrations of being placed as first and not being allocated this	Responded at Stage 1 - Not Upheld	Housing

	property after the bidding cycle.		
STAGE 1 - 3349	Customer aggrieved in relation to receiving a notice to pay in a Rother owned car park.	Responded at Stage 1 - Not Upheld	Neighbourhood Services and Contracts - Other
STAGE 1 - 8792	Customer unhappy with the non-collection of all their garden waste bins as only two out of three are being emptied.	Closed at initial stage - Resolved	Neighbourhood Services and Contracts - Waste
STAGE 1 - 1955	Customer aggrieved with the decision to refuse their planning application and the conduct of the planning officer.	Responded at Stage 1 - Not Upheld	Development Management
STAGE 1 - 8397	Customer complained in relation to the handling of their Business Rate enquiry.	Responded at Stage 1 - Partially Upheld	Council Tax
STAGE 1 - 9243	Customer unhappy with the threat of a community protection order for feeding the birds.	Responded at Stage 1 - Not Upheld	Community and Safety
STAGE 2 - 4438	Customer aggrieved in relation to the handling of their Council Tax account.	Not Upheld	Council Tax
STAGE 2 - 5934	Customer aggrieved in relation to the granting of a planning application due to the impact on their privacy and amenity to neighbouring properties.	Not Upheld	Development Management
STAGE 2 - 8917	Customer unhappy with the erection of the protective netting in Broad Oak Park.	Not Upheld	Neighbourhood Services and Contracts - Other
STAGE 2 - 0024	Customer aggrieved at the non-action of planning enforcement following an alleged breach being reported.	Not Upheld	Planning and Environmental Enforcement
STAGE 2 - 1107	Complaint in relation to the removal of a planning condition for a Caravan Park.	Not Upheld	Development Management

STAGE 2 - 9965	Customer complained in relation to the handling of their Business Rate enquiry.	Partially Upheld	Council Tax
STAGE 2 - 1405	Customer unhappy with the Council tax charge decision following their home being uninhabitable due to flooding and the loss of the 25% single person discount as a result of this.	Partially Upheld	Council Tax
STAGE 2 - 2357	Customer unhappy with the impact of the development at Worsham Farm as it differs from the plans they viewed and they are requesting compensation for the effect on their health, wellbeing and on the value of their property.	Partially Upheld	Development Management
STAGE 2 - 3819	Customer complained that their late relative's burial location has not been positioned as per their families wishes. Customer also aggrieved with the manner in which the graveside had been left by Rother's contractors.	Partially Upheld	Neighbourhood Services and Contracts - Other
STAGE 2 - 3700	Customer aggrieved in relation to the handling of a neighbouring properties planning application and the lack of enforcement following issues being raised.	Partially Upheld	Planning and Environmental Enforcement

4. A total of 42 Stage 1 Complaints of which:

- 17 were resolved at initial stage;
- two were upheld;
- 17 were not upheld;
- five were partially upheld; and
- one escalated straight to Stage 2.

A total of 10 Stage 2 Complaints of which:

- none were upheld;
- five were not upheld; and
- five were partially upheld.

	Average response time	Max time
	(days)	(days)
Stage 1	22	64
Stage 2	26	54

Conclusion

5. The Committee is asked to note the report.

Human Rights

- 6. The human rights considerations in this report cover the following:
 - Access to justice in terms of remedy and redress.
 - Right to privacy (including protection from negative consequence).
 - Non-discrimination.
 - Fair, transparent, and accountable process.

Risk Management

- 7. The risk considerations in this report cover:
 - Legal.
 - Reputational.
 - Financial.
 - Operational.
 - Organisational.

Equalities and Diversity

- 8. The Equality, Diversity and inclusion considerations in this report cover the following areas:
 - Non-bias or non-prejudice.
 - · Accessibility and inclusivity.
 - Intersectionality (disability, gender, race, sexuality).

Other Implication	ns A	pplies?	Other Implications	Applies?
Human Rights		Yes	Equalities and Diversity	Yes
Crime and Disorder		No	External Consultation	No
Environmental		No	Access to Information	No
Risk Management		Yes	Exempt from publication	No
Chief Executive:	Lorna Ford			
Papart Contact	Mark Adams			

Chief Executive:	Lorna Ford
Report Contact	Mark Adams
Officer:	
e-mail address:	mark.adams@rother.gov.uk
Appendices:	None
Relevant Previous	Audit and Standards Committee 19 June 2023
Minutes:	
Background Papers:	None
Reference	None
Documents:	

Rother District Council

Report to: Audit and Standards Committee

Date: 28 February 2024

Title: Debate Not Hate: Ending abuse in public life for

councillors

Report of: Linda Walker, Interim Monitoring Officer

Purpose of Report: To consider the Local Government Association's

publication on how councils can better support councillors

to prevent and handle abuse.

Officer

Recommendation(s): It be **RESOLVED**: That:

1) the Council's actions to date to support Councillors in preventing and handling abuse in public life be noted;

- 2) the procedure for the reporting of incidents of abuse be formalised and Councillors be provided links to all relevant recorded training sessions, Local Government Association's guidance and other sources of support on a regular basis;
- 3) the Member Development Task Group be reminded to regularly review the support available; and
- 4) the findings of the Local Government Association's report be noted.

Introduction

- 1. In July 2023, the Local Government Association (LGA) published a report which outlines how councils can better support councillors to prevent and handle abuse and includes principles for councils to consider, top tips and good practice case studies. A copy has been reproduced at Appendix A and is available electronically at the following link: debate not hate report
- 2. This report highlights the key findings and recommendations of the LGA report and what steps Rother District Council has already put in place to ensure that Councillors feel supported when dealing with abuse in public life.
- 3. As elected officials, Councillors are open to wider public scrutiny and criticism than officers and private citizens and this can make it challenging to identify the point when legitimate criticism becomes abuse, harassment and intimidation, particularly over social media.

Findings

4. The LGA's project researchers identified the following three key challenges to supporting councillors with these issues:

Challenge 1: Councillors feel vulnerable to abuse and ill-equipped or supported to handle abuse, harassment, and intimidation. Councillors are informed of their risk but have limited knowledge of tools for effective conflict resolution and aftercare.

Challenge 2: Lack of clear process around reporting instances of abuse, harassment and intimidation to the council. Councillors don't know who to turn to when an incident occurs. There is limited understanding about the role and help that supporting officers can provide.

Challenge 3: There is uneven engagement and response from the police to abuse and harassment of councillors. Some police forces are sympathetic, some others are not or consider low-risk abuse as something insignificant. There is limited advice tailored for elected officers in local politics and in occasions, a lack of understanding of why they need special measures.

5. In response to these challenges, the LGA has developed three recommendations for central government, regulators and police forces across England to consider, as follows:

Recommendation 1: The Government and Ofcom should take steps to ensure that harmful and abusive behaviour does not continue unrestricted online, including developing clear guidance for social media and other online service providers on their obligations to mitigate the risks of online abuse and how this may be best achieved; and that the experience of elected members is considered in any new Ofcom guidance mandated by the Online Safety Bill.

Recommendation 2: The Government should work with the police to set out clear and consistent guidance on the role of policing in addressing abuse, intimidation and harassment of elected members. This should include expert capacity to monitor crime associated with elected members and act as a single point of contact for both councils and councillors.

Recommendation 3: The Government should widen the scope of the Defending Democracy Programme to explicitly include the safety, security and wellbeing of locally elected politicians, rather than focusing solely on national politicians and foreign interference.

Principles

6. The LGA report identifies the following principles for support agencies, with commentary under each principle on the actions already undertaken by Rother that work towards achieving these principles:

Zero-tolerance approach to abuse: Establish and enforce a strict policy that clearly outlines expectations for interactions and promotes respectful debate.

New signage has been created and displayed in the Council Chamber alerting attendees that Councillors and officers should be treated with respect at all times and any failure to do so will result in removal from the meeting.

Wording in routine emails confirming public speaking arrangements for participants at Planning Committee and Full Council meetings has been strengthened to confirm expected conduct from public participants.

The commitment to provide security personnel at high profile, potential controversial meetings, where local intelligence has suggested there may be issues.

In February 2023, ahead of the local elections, the Council approved a Motion to sign up to the LGA's Debate Not Hate campaign and following this the "Debate not Hate" logo was adopted and is present on the bottom of all email communication sent from the Council. A copy of the approved Motion is attached at Appendix B.

The Motion further committed the Council to regularly review the support available to Councillors in relation to abuse and intimidation and Councillor safety through the Member Development Task Group. The provision of personal safety training as part of the Member Induction Programme has already taken place the Democratic Services Manager will ensure that this support will be reviewed annually.

<u>Clarity of process and responsibility:</u> Clearly define the process for raising concerns and assign responsible individuals within the council to provide support to councillors.

Whilst this has not been formalised, Members have reported incidents of online and in-person abuse / harassment to the Democratic Services Manager on a number of occasions and support has been provided by way of signposting to LGA guidance and Police, where necessary. It is recommended that the process is formalised with any incidents being reported to the Council's Monitoring Officer via the MonitoringOfficer@rother.gov.uk email account in the first instance.

<u>Relationships with local police:</u> Proactively develop strong relationships with the police to enhance coordination and foster mutual understanding of abuse affecting councillors and the role of police in addressing it.

The Council's Chief Executive meets regularly with Sussex Police area commanders and local intelligence is shared with the Council; there is a good collaborative relationship between the Council and Sussex Police.

The Council's Community Safety Coordinator attends regular JAG meetings and liaises where appropriate with the Chief Executive with any concerns over Councillor safety issues.

<u>Tailored risk assessments:</u> Consider individual councillors' needs and proactively identify risks through dynamic and periodic risk assessments.

Officers have not undertaken risk assessments on behalf of Councillors but have provided training on how to go about assessing personal safety risks whilst conducting the duties of a Councillor via personal safety training delivered as part of the initial Member Induction Programme. Whilst the

training was not recorded (at the trainers' request) a copy of the slides have been made available on the Council's Intranet for all Councillors.

<u>Prioritise councillor wellbeing:</u> Recognise and consider how your council can support councillor wellbeing and address the negative impacts of personal attacks and hurtful commentaries.

All Councillors have access to the Council's Employee Assistance Programme via the BeSupported Website which provides Councillors and their immediate family with information, resources and options to address a wide range of issues both at home and at work including counselling.

Conclusions

- 7. This report demonstrates that Rother District Council has already implemented a number of steps to ensure that Councillors are provided with the support and resources to deal with abuse in their public life.
- 8. The Committee is asked to consider the report, note the actions already undertaken by Rother District Council and make any further recommendations to improve the support available to Councillors in these matters.

Other Implication	ons	Applies?	Other Implications	Applies?
Human Rights		No	Equalities and Diversity	No
Crime and Disorder		No	Consultation	No
Environmental		No	Access to Information	No
Risk Management		No	Exempt from publication	No
Chief Executive:	Lorna Ford	<u> </u>		
Report Contact	Linda Walker, Monitoring Officer			
Officer:			•	
e-mail address:	MonitoringOfficer@rother.gov.uk			
Appendices:	ıblic life for			
	councillors	;	-	
	Appendix I	3 – Motior	n to Council – Debate not Hate	
Relevant Previous	None.			
Minutes:				
Background Papers:	None.			
Reference				
Documents:				



Debate Not Hate: Ending abuse in public life for councillors

Our new publication outlines how councils can better support councillors to prevent and handle abuse and includes principles for councils to consider, top tips and good practice case studies.

03 Jul 2023 LGA 43.28

Executive summary

Serving in public office is both a privilege and a responsibility and our Debate Not Hate campaign (https://www.local.gov.uk/about/campaigns/debate-not-hate) is working to challenge the abuse local politicians face. However, there is a growing issue of abuse and intimidation in public and political discourse that can have a negative impact on councillors, their families and local democracy. This is why the LGA commissioned Riber Consultants to work with councils and relevant partners to consider the best approaches to supporting councillors to prevent and manage abuse linked to their elected role. Through the project, researchers identified key challenges to supporting councillors with these issues, principles for councils to consider, and top tips and good practice case studies to help councils better support councillors prevent and handle abuse and intimidation.

Challenges

• **Challenge 1:** Councillors feel vulnerable to abuse and ill-equipped or supported to handle abuse, harassment, and

- intimidation. Councillors are informed of their risk but have limited knowledge of tools for effective conflict resolution and aftercare.
- Challenge 2: Lack of clear process around reporting instances of abuse, harassment and intimidation to the council. Councillors don't know who to turn to when an incident occurs. There is limited understanding about the role and help that supporting officers can provide.
- Challenge 3: There is uneven engagement and response from the
 police to abuse and harassment of councillors. Some police forces
 are sympathetic, some others are not or consider low-risk abuse as
 something insignificant. There is limited advice tailored for elected
 officers in local politics and in occasions, a lack of understanding of
 why they need special measures.

Principles for support agencies

Based on workshops and follow up interviews with council officers, we propose some guiding principles to help councils navigate these challenges:

- **1. Zero-tolerance approach to abuse:** Establish and enforce a strict policy that clearly outlines expectations for interactions and promotes respectful debate.
- **2. Clarity of process and responsibility:** Clearly define the process for raising concerns and assign responsible individuals within the council to provide support to councillors.
- **3. Relationships with local police:** Proactively develop strong relationships with the police to enhance coordination and foster mutual understanding of abuse affecting councillors and the role of police in addressing it.
- **4. Tailored risk assessments:** Consider individual councillors' needs and proactively identify risks through dynamic and periodic risk assessments.

5. Prioritise councillor wellbeing: Recognise and consider how your council can support councillor wellbeing and address the negative impacts of personal attacks and hurtful commentaries

Recommendations

For this project, researchers used the framework of agency, whereby councillors, councils, police and local agencies have specific powers, resources and spheres of influence that they can affect. Through this framing, they also identified barriers to addressing abuse and intimidation which originate outside this sphere. In brief these issues included the management of harmful content online, the capacity and expectation of the police to respond to abuse against elected members, and the normalisation of abuse leading to poor standards of political and public discourse.

In response to these challenges, the LGA has developed three recommendations for central government, regulators and police forces across England to consider.

- Recommendation 1: The Government and Ofcom should take steps to ensure that harmful and abusive behaviour does not continue unrestricted online, including developing clear guidance for social media and other online service providers on their obligations to mitigate the risks of online abuse and how this may be best achieved; and that the experience of elected members is considered in any new Ofcom guidance mandated by the Online Safety Bill.
- Recommendation 2: The Government should work with the police
 to set out clear and consistent guidance on the role of policing in
 addressing abuse, intimidation and harassment of elected
 members. This should include expert capacity to monitor crime
 associated with elected members and act as a single point of
 contact for both councils and councillors.

 Recommendation 3: The Government should widen the scope of the Defending Democracy Programme to explicitly include the safety, security and wellbeing of locally elected politicians, rather than focusing solely on national politicians and foreign interference.

Introduction and background

Abuse of elected members is unacceptable and there is evidence that these experiences are forcing good councillors out of local politics and deterring others from running for election.

In 2022, the LGA found that seven out of 10 councillors (https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/national-census-local-authority-council lors-2022) had experienced abuse from the public in the previous year. Further research by the LGA in 2022, reinforced concerns that abuse in public life and public discourse is becoming normalised and seriously impacting civic life and local democracy.

The LGA has been working for some time to build a better understanding of the issue of abuse and intimidation of elected members and what individuals, local organisations and national government can do to reverse this trend. This project is part of a series of projects looking at what can be done to prevent abuse and address it when it occurs and focuses on what local agencies including councils and police can do to prevent and address abuse perpetrated against councillors. Other resources in this series include the Debate Not Hate: The impact of abuse on local democracy report (https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy) and the Councillor guide to handling abuse and intimidation. (https://www.local.gov.uk/councillors-guide-handling-harassment-abuse-and-intimidation)

Project background

The project is based on the premise that individuals and organisations have various spheres of influence within specific structures and different levels of autonomy and agency. Here agency refers to the capacity of individuals to act independently and make choices, while structure pertains to the broader social systems and institutions that shape

individual behaviour and limit agency. There is an inherent tension between agency and structure as individual actions are influenced by and impacted by the structures in which they sit. This is particularly relevant to discussions about councillors as they occupy an unusual position, neither volunteer nor employee: they have both more agency by sitting slightly outside usual employment frameworks, but also benefit from fewer legal protections.

In this paradigm, there have been efforts to maximise on this agency and upskill councillors to manage their own environments, mitigate risks and build resilience. However, councillors only have the power and autonomy to impact their own actions. Beyond a councillor's circle of influence, other organisations in the local area may have the power, resources and, in some cases, the responsibility to respond to abuse, intimidation and threats aimed at locally elected members.

For example, councils alongside political parties provide the primary support mechanism for councillors locally, with officers acting as points of contact for day-to-day business and providing specialist advice and information. However, councils also have limited powers, resources, and their own specific sphere of influence. Only with the coordinated input from other statutory and non-statutory parties, such as the police, media providers, and social media providers can we hope to address abuse and intimidation against councillors and other elected members. Further still there are some issues that require national, social or systemic change and which local organisations cannot address in isolation.

Throughout this project and this report, the authors have used abuse, intimidation and public intimidation to refer to "words and/or behaviour intended or likely to block, influence or deter participation in public debate or causing alarm or distress which could lead to an individual wanting to withdraw from public life". This could include a range of behaviours, a summary of which is set out in **Appendix A**.

Project methodology

Through this project the LGA aimed to take a step beyond existing research evidencing the prevalence and severity of this issue and set out possible local and national mitigations and solutions to abuse

against councillors. To support this aim, researchers engaged with a range of resources and individuals who supporting councillors, have experience of handling issues of abuse and intimidation more generally, or have lived experience of these issues.

This was delivered through two distinct research phases. The first phase was delivered through primary and secondary research and aimed to identify the challenges and barriers deterring councils, the police and other agencies providing better support to councillors. The second phase was delivered through primary research workshops and looked to generate and develop solutions to the identified barriers. This was supported by the expertise of a project steering group drawn from a range of organisations with a substantive interest in the project.

Phase 1: Challenges and barriers identification Detailed methodology:

Ecosystem mapping and stakeholder interviews

The issue of harassment, abuse and intimidation is a global issue, affecting all societies to varying degrees across the globe. As such there are many organisations and individuals interested in this issue. The purpose of the ecosystem mapping was to understand what expert organisations exist primarily in the UK, but also across the whole, how they approach abuse and intimidation issue and how this could apply to the local government sector.

In the UK there is significant interest in the topic of harassment, abuse and intimidation has increased significantly in recent years. Many organisations focus on women's rights and violence against women in politics; few are directed at other underrepresented minority groups or at politicians more generally. We identified approximately 60 key stakeholders working on the topic (full list at **Appendix C**) and prioritised a selection for detailed interviews.

Using a semi-structured interview method, we conducted 20 in-depth interviews with stakeholders from a range of backgrounds, including the public sector, the police, legal, social media and third sector organisations. The interviews focus on advice for people in public life,

interventions that work well, problems with implementation and what change is needed to address the issue of abuse against people in public life.

Literature review

To better understand what tailored support there is for councillors, we conducted a systematic search of documents offering support and guidelines published by a random selection of 50 councils. The aim was to identify public approaches to handling abuse and intimidation of elected people, including councillor support packages, guidance on personal safety, zero-tolerance policies and other relevant content. In one fifth of the councils, we were unable to identify support aimed at supporting councillors with abuse or intimidation or personal safety. However, this does not necessarily mean that councils do not have these resources available to councillors. In many councils reviewed there was comprehensive or supportive guidance. Good practice identified from this exercise has been incorporated into this report.

Focus groups

As part of this phase, we hosted two focus groups, one for councillors dealing with abuse and intimidation and one for council officers with a role supporting councillors. The aim was to identify the barriers and challenges to providing councillors with better support around abuse and intimidation from each perspective. The focus groups were similarly structured and explored key issues around prevention, support, responses, and aftercare. Fourteen councillors attended the councillor workshop and 11 officers from a range of specialisms attended the officer workshop. Attendees came from a diverse range of authority types with different political control across the variety of English regions.

Findings

Changing dynamics

Abuse and intimidation in public life have emerged as escalating concerns over the past few decades. According to a study by Collignon and Rudig (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.111 1/1467-923X.12855)(2020), in 2019, 49 per cent of parliamentary candidates reported experiencing some form of harassment, abuse, or

intimidation during their campaigns. This represents an 11-percentage point increase compared to 2017. Some officers reported that they felt that rising abuse levels in public discourse could be a result of antipolitics sentiment and proliferation of conspiracy theories online, which sometimes present as unfounded allegations of bias and corruption, and other abusive behaviours.

However, this change has been gradual, is not well evidenced in local government and has not always presented in the same way in different places creating a variability of responses linked to differential experiences. For example, an increase in support provided by councils has frequently been tied to severe national incidents or localised threats. In regions where such issues have not been prevalent or high profile, councils and other agencies may not have kept pace with increasing risks associated with the role of elected members.

Council officers and councillors have reported that abuse, intimidation, and harassment faced by elected members can have a detrimental impact on democratic representation, particularly where underrepresented groups in local and national politics receive higher volumes and more aggressive forms of abuse. For example, research analysing the effects of abuse on women's campaign strategies revealed a damaging link where women who experience intimidation tend to moderate their campaigning strategies and see their chances of electoral success undermined (Collignon and Rüdig, 2021). (https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17457289.2021.1968413)

Criminal thresholds and the legal framework

Councillors are elected officials and therefore are open to wider public scrutiny and criticism than officers and private citizens. This can make it challenging to identify the point when legitimate criticism becomes abuse, harassment and intimidation.

Serious incidents, such as physical assaults and credible threats to life and limb, will clearly meet the threshold for police intervention. These events will general fit neatly into the existing legal framework, which primarily concentrates on individual cases that involve a solitary victim and a lone perpetrator. It is understood that the risk of physical violence

towards councillors is low in the England and most incidents may not constitute an immediate emergency but may nevertheless be criminal. Serious crimes like hate crime, stalking, and harassment have robust definitions, charging thresholds and legal consequences. However, many councillors have reported that they feel the threshold for police to record and investigate incidents against them is higher than ordinary citizens, because of their elected role.

While the law is relatively clear for some crimes, the same cannot be said for more frequent yet equally damaging forms of abuse, as online abuse and misinformation. The current legal framework inadequately addresses the cumulative or escalating impact of such abuse, as well as cases involving multiple perpetrators. This lack of clarity and understanding creates a grey area, which has significant implications for establishing clear reporting thresholds to the police and leaves victims without the necessary support or options for redress.

Additionally, it is not against the law to be unpleasant and in the process of determining if abusive speech is criminal, police must balance several considerations, including freedom of expression and journalistic expression. Abuse may not meet this threshold and yet still have a profoundly negatively impact on councillors and their families, particularly if it is repeated. Here it is also imperative to consider what additional vulnerabilities or aggravating factors there may be. For example, this is evidence that some groups with protected characteristics may receive higher volumes and more vitriolic abuse, particularly racist, homophobic and misogynistic abuse. Police should consider this in their assessment of risk and impact.

Capacity and awareness of the relevant agencies

Local agencies such as the council, the police and political parties all have a role in supporting councillors to ensure their safety and protect them as integral to the local democratic system. However, there are capacity issues across the whole of the public sector and there isn't consistent awareness of the issues of abuse against politicians across all areas. This can lead to councillors falling between the gaps between different organisations and feeling that all partners have abdicated responsibility for their safety.

This can play out in terms of prevention and response to abuse. Councils and police both hold valuable intelligence about their local areas and sharing this information allows for risks to be identified ahead of time and mitigated against before they become an issue. Capacity and structures to allow this information sharing to take place are therefore vital.

Police often face challenges due to limited resources and training. They must prioritise their resources and have many specific statutory duties that draw on their resources. This can hinder their ability to respond to lower-level incidents of harassment, abuse, and intimidation promptly or effectively. Operational separation between different police forces means there is significant variation across different regions, leading to inconsistent experiences for councillors who seek support and protection. Persistent issues revolve around the reporting process itself, including informal approaches, inconsistencies, and uncertainty regarding what will be investigated and what won't.

Lack of clear guidance on how to deal with vulnerable persons

Councillors engage with resident from all walks of life in their role, including vulnerable people seeking assistance. Councillors should always consider whether they are the most appropriate person to be supporting an individual and where it would be more appropriate to direct them to an officer at the council. In the case of vulnerable people, this could mean referring to the safeguarding team at the council who are trained and resources to provide specific support. Councillors are often reluctant to disengage with residents even if they are abusive, particularly if they consider the resident to be vulnerable – clear processes for referral and ensuring vulnerable people are appropriately supported through the council can help reassure councillors that they have done the best thing for the resident and disengage personally if necessary.

In extreme cases where an individual who is vulnerable due to mental health problems appears to be displaying fixated behaviour, such as harassment, stalking or threatening behaviour towards public figures the **Fixated Threat Assessment Centre (https://www.beh-mht.nhs.uk/services/fixated-threat-assessment-centre-ftac/297)** can help to assess

the situation. The Centre is a joint police and mental health unit established in 2006 to assess and manage the risk to politicians, members of the British Royal Family and other public figures from obsessive individuals. It is unclear whether this support extends to local politicians. The Centre receives around 1,000 referrals a year, half of which are assessed as low risk and are referred to local health services.

Standards of political discourse

Politicians have a significant role in shaping public discourse, and their words and actions can have a powerful impact on society. As representatives of their local communities, councillors are dedicated to improving the lives of their residents through the development of better services and positive changes at the local level. Citizens have high expectations of their elected members, and councillors should strive to meet these expectations with integrity and professionalism. The council must also have a Code of Conduct to help councillors model best conduct, balance their behaviour, understand the expectations of their role and indicate the kind of conduct that could lead to action being taken against them. The LGA has developed a Model Councillor Code of Conduct (https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/guidance-and-re sources/civility-public-life-resources-councillors/councillor-condu ct), in association with key partners and after extensive consultation with the sector, as part of its work to support all tiers of local government to aspire to high standards of leadership and performance. At the same time, councillors deserve to be treated with respect by officers, fellow elected members, and the public at large.

Challenges

Based on the initial research phase, we developed three specific challenges that councils face in providing adequate support to their councillors with abuse and intimidation issues. These challenges then formed the basis of the phase two solution identification and development exercises.

Challenge 1: Councillors feel vulnerable to abuse and ill-equipped or supported to handle abuse, harassment, and intimidation

Due to the public nature of their role, councillors may be susceptible to verbal, psychological and physical abuse and intimidation from various sources, including members of the public. A central part of their role is engaging with local residents, and they often are involved with making difficult local decisions about local services. These decisions can be a catalyst for community disputes, personal disagreements and can escalate into heated confrontations. Councillors are generally aware of the risks associated with their role due to their experience campaigning and engaging with residents. However, without specific training and support, they may not possess the necessary skills to confidently identify risky situations, diffuse potentially volatile situations and deescalate tensions, and ensure a positive outcome. Concerns about the risk of these challenging engagements can deter candidates and councillors from meeting and engaging with the residents they represent as much as they would wish.

Furthermore, councillors may also struggle to manage the aftermath of individual or ongoing incidents. For example, there may be practical concerns about the safety of their home, travel and council activities and they may need to make different arrangements to usual. This can be overwhelming, as can the need to engage with various agencies, such as the council, their political party and the police to handle serious abuse and put in place safety mitigations. The emotional impact, effort to seeking support and potentially counselling can be difficult if this support isn't readily available through the council or political party.

Challenge 2: Lack of clear process around reporting abuse, harassment and intimidation to the council results in councillors not knowing who to turn to when an incident occurs

Council officers play a vital role in supporting councillors with a range of needs associated with their elected role. This includes how councillors engage with the public on council matters and supporting councillors to deal with abuse, harassment, and intimidation they might experience. However, the council's role in protecting councillors' wellbeing is not set out in statute and therefore the thresholds and levels of support can be

variable and are not well-understood by councillors. As a result, councillors may be unclear as to who they should contact in the council and what evidence they should collect of abuse. This is especially problematic when they experience low-level abuse that may not necessarily be a police matter but that requires to be logged and properly documented in case it escalates further.

Challenge 3: There is inconsistent engagement and response from the police to abuse and harassment of councillors

The diversity among police forces, including differences in resources and training, results in variable responses and levels of support provided to councillors based on geographical location. This discrepancy is influenced by differing understanding regarding the public role of councillors, leading to inconsistent engagement from the police and a lack of tailored safety advice. Consequently, we found inconsistencies in reporting procedures, which makes it difficult to develop effective interventions to prevent abuse, harassment, and intimidation of councillors. We also found that the differences in levels of engagement and support between police forces contribute to underreporting, leaving councillors feeling isolated and unable to fulfil their responsibilities effectively. To address this challenge, it is vital to foster positive relationships between the council and the police, underpinned by comprehensive training. Additionally, police forces need to establish a consistent understanding of when and how to intervene, ensuring that councillors receive the necessary support and protection they require.

Phase 2: Solution identification and development phase

During this phase of the research project, we used a bottom-up approach to identify best practice that already exists in councils and local police forces and develop new solutions to support councillors with abuse and intimidation from the public.

We used an iterative and agile methodology to identify and develop solutions to the three challenges identified in the first phase of the research at two workshops with council officers and other relevant experts. The approximately 60 attendees were drawn from a range of types of councils from across urban and rural areas in England. From these sessions, researchers developed a range of good practice case studies and suggested practice which councils and their local partners may find helpful.

Findings

The methodology employed in this project resulted in several key findings, which we would propose as guiding principles.

1. Zero-tolerance approach to abuse: establish and enforce a strict policy that sets clear expectations for interactions and promoting respectful debate.

Normalisation of abuse and intimidation in public and political discourse is a well-established growing issue with **demonstrable negative impacts on local democracy.** (https://www.local.gov.uk/publication s/debate-not-hate-impact-abuse-local-democracy) Democratic institutions may therefore need to respond to this rising issue and set expectations for interactions between the public and councillors, as many already do with staff.

Setting out a zero-tolerance approach to abuse could include a range of actions, such as ensuring that all relevant policies about managing negative interactions between the public and council staff also reflect councillor engagement with the public. Councils can also set expectations by highlighting respectful debate and engagement principles through digital and physical marketing materials aimed at those who engage regularly with staff and councillors.

Finally, there is evidence that many councillors consider their residents' right to engage with their elected representative as sacrosanct and are reluctant to disengage, take officer advice or report incidents to the police even if the engagement is unhealthy, abusive or even threatening. In addition, councillors, unlike staff, are not obliged to comply with employment policies in the same way as employees. However, setting expectations and thresholds of what is acceptable communication with councillors from the outset may help them identify unacceptable behaviour and disengage from or refer abusive residents on to officers when appropriate.

2. Clarity of process and responsibility: Clearly define the process for raising concerns and assign responsible persons who are well equipped and located in the council to provide councillors with support.

Clarity of process was highlighted as a key challenge by councillors and officers alike. Councillors have consistently raised concerns about not knowing where to go for support in their councils. However, we found evidence that this is an issue that varies from place to place and in some areas, there is a clear and formalised process for raising concerns, either through a single point of contact (SPoC) individual or department.

This may be a symptom of the way abuse and intimidation of councillor presents locally. For example, we found that councils that had robust and embedded arrangements for supporting councillors with abuse and intimidation had often been galvanised into action by a local high-profile event or national event that have caused them to reflect on their local arrangements. Other areas were less prepared because they had historically not experienced these issues.

Setting out who is responsible for supporting councillors with abuse and intimidation within the functions of the council and ensuring they are appropriately skilled and resourced is critical to ensuring that appropriate support is embedded into the activities of the council. In addition, clearly setting out the kinds of support the council will provide, how and in what circumstances the support will be provided, and who councillors should go to day-to-day and in the event of an out-of-hours concern or emergency in clear processes and procedures can help to ensure officers know what to do consistently when councillors ask for support and help councillors feel well-supported in their role.

3. Relationships with local police: Proactively foster strong relationships with police to improve coordination and advance mutual understanding of abuse affecting councillors and the police role in addressing it.

Many councils have excellent relationships with their local police forces working together on a range of local issues, from anti-social behaviour to licensing. However, we hear often that police do not always engage

with the issues of abuse and harassment that affect councillors. In particular, some councillors have expressed the belief that police did not take appropriate actions to record and investigate potential crimes against them because they were councillors.

We must be clear here that police forces must balance a range of considerations including the severity of the infraction and threat level, as well as capacity and available resources when responding to crime in their local area. In addition, through the process of this research we heard that police response is varied across different areas and that there are excellent examples of police taking action to deal with serious risk and incidents involving councillors.

Contributors to this research were clear that a strong relationship with the local police force was critical to ensuring that the police understood the specific experiences and challenges that elected members experience and to setting expectations with elected members as to when it is appropriate for police to get involved.

4. Tailored risk assessments: Consider the needs of individual councillors and proactively identify risks through dynamic and periodic risk assessments.

At the centre of this support should be the needs of members. Some council officers said that because they didn't have many reports of abuse and intimidation incidents, they had assumed it wasn't an issue for their members. However, once they began proactively asking members about their experiences, they found this wasn't the case. On the other hand, some councillors do not agree that abuse and intimidation is an issue for them personally or in their area and feel that support offered by officers is paternalistic and not a good use of public money. Officers should be alive to these views, but not assume that this feeling in one member reflects the views of others. Many councils have taken the approach of regularly surveying councillors on their training and support needs, this can help officers to tailor the support to the genuine needs of members and keep track of the changing issues in their local area.

As mentioned earlier, some councils had been prompted to put in place better support and protections by a particular incident or local tensions, but without sustained focus and attention to issues of councillor safety, good practice sometimes diminished with the threat. Some officers reflected that they recognised this challenge in their own area and were keen to reinvigorate their efforts. Other said they had recognised the role of the council in monitoring local tensions and ensuring these factors were played into a dynamic risk assessment of risks against staff and elected members alike. Council officers also have valuable information and a range of skills, such as health and safety, communications, community engagement and legal, that can help to identify and mitigate risks of everyday councillor activities, like engaging with the public and safely visiting locations in the local area

5. Prioritise councillor wellbeing: Recognise and consider how your council can support councillor wellbeing and address the negative impacts of personal attacks and hurtful commentaries.

Many officers commented that councillor wellbeing is a much bigger consideration now than ever before. The expectations of the public, ability to critique on social media and a tendency towards blame culture against public figures has resulted in high-profile local and national politicians being very exposed to hurtful public commentaries.

While it is absolutely right that councillors should be held to account for their actions as part of their role, many are now finding public abuse crossed the line into unnecessarily personal attacks and this can deter people from standing for election or re-election and seeking leadership positions. This is detrimental to democracy and at the extreme can lead to councillors feeling anxious and depressed. Beyond actions to support councillors manage their online engagement and protect them from real treats, many councils are now considering what more they can do to support councillor resilience and wellbeing. This can take a range of forms from informal buddying to counselling via employee assistance programmes.

Tops tips and case studies

The principles are designed to help councils to consider how best to provide support for their councillors in their local context. As part of both phases of the project, we collected ideas and good practice case studies to illustrate the range of activities councils are doing to support their members. We have divided these by theme of prevention and support, incident management and aftercare, but some examples will apply equally across all areas.

Prevention and support

<u>Understanding needs and coordination</u>

As mentioned in the principles, it's vital to understand the needs of individual councillors as they will not be homogenous across the country or even in the same council. Engaging well with members can also help with uptake of training and support, as their input can help ensure the offer will be most relevant to them.

There are several ways a council can achieve this engagement and a combination of approaches may be most appropriate. For example:

- establishing a small working group of councillors to identify gaps in support and share intelligence about common experiences
- doing regular surveys of members to understand what incidents affect them and what aspects they particularly struggle with
- creating open door or drop-in opportunities for individual councillors to speak to staff about concerns
- establishing a wellbeing or councillor safety champion(s) who can collect information from the range of members at the council and pass this information on to staff.

Many councils have been slowly increasing their action on these issues over the last few years, others have recently begun programmes of work to proactively consider their approach to council safety and wellbeing. Many have chosen to create an internal staff working group including the various departments that have relevant expertise. This could include officers such as:

· monitoring officer

- head of legal if not the monitoring officer
- democratic services
- heads of political group offices
- health and safety
- community safety
- communications
- community engagement
- · human resources.

With expertise from a wide range of department innovative solutions can be brought forward. For example, one council use their Anti-Social Behaviour reporting system to record abuse against councillors. Police colleagues have access to this system which means that police can assess the reports, provide advice and note any patterns of abuse that might develop into harassment or other crimes. Leeds City Council use their existing assets, such as their 24-hour CCTV centre, to ensure councillors can call for assistance through lone worker devices when they are out in their communities visiting residents.

London Borough of Hounslow: Case study on crossorganisational practitioner working group

Hounslow Council is taking steps to address harassment affecting its elected members. Following the passing of a motion by the council is now working on setting up a crossorganisational working group with expert representatives from democratic services, legal, health and safety, and other relevant departments. The purpose of the group will be to use the various expertise to identify emerging issues and gaps in support and develop solutions that will help to prevent and deal with these issues when they arise. The group will also work towards creating a hub space on the intranet where members can access all the necessary information in one place, including access to counselling through the employee assistance scheme.

The council is also considering providing training on emotional intelligence and softer skills to help members pre-empt, navigate and deescalate tensions when challenging issues create passionate responses in the community. Furthermore, the council is encouraging and facilitating respectful and civil conversations about sensitive issues, such as misogyny, between its elected members.

The group will also consider what the council can do to prevent abuse against councillors and when the council should step in actively protect members. For example, it is sometimes appropriate for the council's legal department to take over communications when correspondence is abusive and vexatious and to write an official letter informing the resident that the correspondence is no longer appropriate. This is an important step to explore all avenues before taking any further action.

Policies and guidance

Policies and guidance can support councillors to understand new aspects of their role, including elements of risk, and how the council can support them to navigate any issues they encounter. Councils may wish to consider if they need new policies to set what support is available or whether councillors can be incorporated into existing policies. Key policies could include:

- · vexatious complainants' policies
- lone-worker policies and/or personal safety policies
- receipt of threat policies
- social media policies.

Where a policy isn't appropriate, guidance and good practice examples can support councillors to make informed decisions. The LGA has a Councillor guide to handling abuse and intimidation (https://www.local.gov.uk/councillors-guide-handling-harassment-abuse-and-inti

midation), which includes comprehensive social media guidance. However, some councils have developed their own guidance tailored to local circumstances:

- Blaby District Council guide Personal Safety Guidance for Councillors (https://w3.blaby.gov.uk/decision-making/doc uments/s39158/Personal%20Safety%20for%20Councillors%20 -%20GUIDANCE%20V2.pdf)
- Bradford Metropolitan District Council Guide to Personal Safety for Councillors (https://www.bradford.gov.uk/hands/d ocuments/Safety%20Guidance%20and%20Information/Person al%20Safety%20Councillors%202021.pdf)

Training

Councillors are usually provided with a lot of information and possibly training when they first become a councillor. However, it's important to repeat key training often to ensure councillors are well equipped throughout their term. Common options for training around abuse and intimidations include:

- personal safety and risk assessment
- social media training and digital citizenship
- general communications and healthy debate
- emotional intelligence
- conflict de-escalation
- code of conduct.

The LGA provides training and e-learning on some of these topics that are free for councillors in England. Councillors can access all learning options through the Civility in public life hub (https://www.google.com/search?q=civility+in+public+life&rlz=1C1GCEB_enGB891GB891&oq=&aqs=chrome.1.69i59l3j0i131i433i512j69i60l3j69i65.2114j0j7&sourceid=chrome&ie=UTF-8).

Durham County Council: Using social media safely

The council has developed a comprehensive social media toolkit that guides councillors on social media use. The toolkit includes a section that advises councillors on how to manage comments, protect accounts, and reduce the risk of harassment or abuse online. The council recently updated the toolkit in accordance with the civility and respect guide on social media, published by the civility and respect project in consultation with the Society of Local Council Clerks, National Association Local Councils, One Voice Wales and County Associations, ensuring that it is comprehensive and accessible to all councillors.

The toolkit is presented as part of the council's training on social media which is made up of a theoretical and practical session. The first part of the training is conducted by the legal team and sets out how to communicate and use social media positively and in line with the council's code of conduct. The following practical sessions are conducted by the communications team and cover how to set up and use social media accounts and keep them technically safe.

The council's communication team engage with social media providers when they are aware of offensive posts and request their removal when necessary. This approach helps the council to strike the balance between promoting a safe and respectful online environment for councillors and residents alike

Technology

Some councils are now providing a range of technological solutions to councillors to mitigate against safety risks associated with their councillor role and to help handle some lower-level abuse.

Some examples of useful technological solutions:

 Councillors have been provided with personal safety alarms, panic alarms or apps on their phone through which they can silently call for assistance. There are a range of options available for this and in some areas mobile options will not function due to poor signal.

- Some councils will provide councillors with a separate phone for council work, allowing them to keep their personal and council numbers separate. This can help councillor to disconnect and set time boundaries when they will respond to council business.
 Similarly, councillors can use a dual sim to have two phone numbers routed to one phone. This allows the convenience of carrying only one phone, but also allows the council to disable one number when they do not want to receive calls and to filter incoming calls depending on which number is being used.
- Profanity filters are now commonly available. Councils could support councillors to set profanity filters on their council email addresses. However, careful consideration should be given to what happens to the blocked emails. Blocked emails could contain a threat to life, and it's therefore important that someone checks the content of the email.

Councillors engage with residents in a variety of ways and occasionally this might mean hosting online, rather than in-person, ward surgeries. If there are any concerns about threats or abuse against a councillor, virtual meetings can help them to control their environment more easily, while also fulfilling their democratic functions. Providing access to zoom accounts and additional strategies like asking participants to preregister, monitoring or disabling the chat function and setting expectations about conduct.

Risk assessment and mitigation

Risk assessments are a key part of a preventative approach to councillor safety and something that council officers will be very familiar with in relation to risk assessing council events and council buildings. However, as part of their role, councillors will often hold ward surgeries, meet people in public places, travel to and from meetings and may even visit resident's homes in their role as a councillor. It's important that these situations are also risk assessed and mitigations put in place to make these interactions as safe as possible. There are several approaches to this, which depend on the available resources and the level of risk associated with the individual councillor.

Risk assessment options range from simply supporting councillors to make their own risk assessments of their activities through templates and light touch guidance. However, if the level of risk is higher, it may be necessary to support councillors more directly by offering officer support to make risk assessment and mitigation proposals for a range of activities and locations, including the councillor's home.

In addition, officers may be able to provide information to councillors to help them assess risk related to individuals, rather than locations. For example, if a councillor is planning to visit a resident they haven't engaged with before, they may wish to check that the person isn't flagged on the councils potentially violent persons register. Council officers may be able to provide advice as to whether visiting is advised or not, without providing specific information about the individual. Some police forces have also provided this kind of check previously and can give advice on whether to visit or not, again without providing personal or confidential information.

If the threat is deemed to be viable, then the police may also be able to provide home security and other safety advice, such as better lighting, ring doorbells, separating post-boxes from the main home and may flag a home address for priority response by the police.

Engaging with the police

Information sharing between the police and councils is key for various reasons. However, councillor safety is one among many priorities that police must balance against available capacity, and that's why it is key to proactively engage with the police and create environments where information can be shared in both directions and where potential issues can be flagged and addressed early. Contributors to this project suggested several ways this council be achieved.

Having a senior police officer responsible for liaising with the
council as an organisation was key for intelligence sharing,
particularly around identifying increasing community tensions or
trigger issues that the council or specific councillors might be
involved with. Having this connection could also help progress
investigations where the officers dealing lacked the expertise to

- factors in the added risk dimensions associated with being an elected councillor.
- Creating strong connections between neighbourhood policing teams and their local councils and councillors helped provide soft support at events where the council didn't have a formal presence.
 This could include local neighbourhood patrols including ward surgery location on surgery days and flagging councillors home addresses for urgent response if a risk had been identified.
- Having police attend candidate election briefings and councillor induction events can help to improve mutual understanding of each other's roles and what councillors can reasonably expect police to be involved with.

Kirklees Council: Collaboration with police and political parties to embed safety on daily activities

Kirklees Council took a practical approach to dealing with abuse and intimidation of candidates and councillors focusing on engaging more with the police on these issues. First, the council established a specific named point of contact within the local police force. Ongoing contact with this officer meant they developed a good understand needs and concerns of councillors. This helps to streamline the reporting process for councillors who experience harassment or abuse.

Second, they now involve discussion of the role of the police in members' induction. This allows the council to proactively approach the issue of harassment and intimidation by setting out a clear understanding of the enforcement role of police and the role of the council in the early induction of new councillors. This can help to ensure that councillors are aware of the support and resources available to them and where to access support if they experience any form of abuse or harassment.

Some lessons learned include; not all councillor and candidates will experience abuse and intimidation, but it's key for them to be aware of these issues so they can be properly prepared to manage them if they do happen. Engaging with the police regularly can help to develop a long-term sustainable relationship.

Managing councillor information

Councillors are representatives of their local communities and engage regularly with their residents. In the past it was usual for councillors to have their home address published on the ballot paper when they were running for election, on the council website and on the register of pecuniary interests. Since 2019 councillors have had the option to put their local authority areas on their ballot paper rather than their full address. However, they may still then have to declare the address on the public register of the interests and some councils still put home addresses up on the website, although this is becoming increasingly rare.

Councillors may apply to their monitoring officer for a dispensation not to declare their full address if they believe it is a sensitive interest where disclosing the interest could lead to the member, or a person connected to them, being subject to violence or intimidation. However, the threshold for this is not set out in guidance or in law, although a letter to council leaders from the then Minister for Local Government, Rishi Sunak MP, encouraged monitoring officers to "look sympathetically at such requests where there are legitimate concerns of abuse or intimidation"

Some candidates and councillors prefer to have their information available to the public to ensure transparency and accessibility. However, increasingly councillors are reporting that had they known the abuse they would experience they would have requested to withhold

that information. Being open throughout the election process about the options and potential risks of publishing personal information may help councillors make informed decisions.

Setting expectations

Many councillors find it very difficult to disengage from residents, even if the communication has become abuse and continued engagement is unlikely to have a positive outcome for the resident or the councillor. Proactive actions to set out how councillors will engage with their residents can help to set expectations before the interaction begins and provides councillors with a clear policy and guidelines as to when they should disengage. This could be practical information in the first instance, for example, setting out response times and opening hours and indicating that casework should be sent via email. However, councillors can extend this principle to specific that abuse will not be tolerated.

LGA: Digital citizenship rules of engagement

The LGA published Digital citizenship guidance for councillors (https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/guidance-and-resources/civility-public-life-resources-councillors/han dling-abuse-and-0) which includes infographics setting out the Rules of engagement. These rules set out clearly what was welcome, including debate and disagreement, but that abuse, threats, false information, and discriminatory language or statements would result in a cessation in engagement and being blocked if on social media. These rules were intended for online communication, but could be amended for other medium of communication, including in person engagement.

This approach has been adopted by other organisations that engage with the public. For example, Transport for London often engages with residents and believes in setting expectations as to how a meeting should be conducted ahead of time. To support the aim of having a

mutually conducive meeting, they use a Terms of Attendance document to set out their expectations for the meeting, which the chair of the meeting must acknowledge and agree to adhere to This agreement means that if a meeting becomes abusive or inappropriate, TfL staff reserve the right to terminate the meeting. In a council setting, template terms of attendance could support councillors to set expectations ahead of ward surgeries or home visitors. In addition, template responses explaining that abusive communications will not be responded to and setting out corrective actions would help councillors reset communications and enforce rules of engagement.

Managing public narratives

Research by the LGA found that sometimes there are particular trigger events or decisions that are a catalyst for abuse, harassment and intimidation. Sometimes these are unexpected, but often the council is aware of that a decision is contentious before it is made. This prior knowledge presents an opportunity to provide proactive support to councillors to help them manage any negative impacts that arise following an event or decision. Communications officers are responsible for responding to requests for information from the public and the media and will often prepare for enquiries following significant council or local events.

Providing this advanced warning of potentially contentious issues and providing factual briefing to councillors can help them to weather social media storms and ensure that information does not become distorted. Advice about how to suspend comments, report abuse on social media, and tips for responding in a productive and safe way can also help councillors online.

Behaviour and conduct

Councillors are leaders of their local community and engage with other elected members to make decisions that impact their residents. In doing so they must act in accordance with the Seven principles of public life (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2), often called the "Nolan principles":

- selflessness
- integrity
- objectivity
- accountability
- openness
- honesty
- · leadership.

Under the heading of leadership, the principles are clear that holders of public office should treat others with respect and challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs.

Councils are required to have a councillor code of conduct in place based on these principles and this should be the basis for instructing councillors on the standards and conduct expected of them. Councils should try to ensure that the code of conduct and any associated training support their councillors to display the best behaviours and encourages high standards of respectful debate and conduct. This could mean regular training on the code, reviewing the code to ensure it is fit for purpose, and developing a shared understand across political groups and members of the value of high standards. In addition, councils can consider tools to reduce reliance on the code of conduct, for example local resolutions protocols (https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/Model-Local-Resolution-Protocol-for-Community-and-Town-Councils.pdf) that are widely used in Welsh councils.

Councillors may also benefit from resources aimed at generally raising the quality of online communication and reducing abuse and misinformation. This could include councillors committing to using good digital citizenship techniques as set out in the LGA Digital citizenship guide (https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/guidance-and-resources/civility-public-life-resources-councillors/handling-abuse-and-0).

Incident management

Support and reporting mechanisms

Council officers support councillors with many aspects of their role, guiding them through the processes of the council, providing support with case work and information the councillor requires. However, when it comes to reporting abuse and intimidation councillors need to be clear where to go to find information and who they should contact and in what circumstances.

Council should try to ensure that all the information councillors need is in one place and easily accessible. For example, the London Borough of Hounslow is developing a 'one-stop-shop' space on the council intranet where councillors will be able to access all the relevant information.

Many councils have a single point of contact for councillors, although the responsible individual or function in the council varies from council to council. This variation is to be expected, but the crucial point is that councillors know who to go to and that the function available is able to cope with workday and out-of-hours issues.

This can be a lot of expectation to place on one individual, and some officers suggested having a team as the SPoC with a responsible senior manager balanced the need for 24-hour support with clarity of responsibility.

Councils should also establish a clear and simple method for reporting incidents which allows easy analysis so that trends and repeated harassment can be identified. Again councils have a range of ways to manage this:

- one council uses their Anti-Social Behaviour system to record abuse against councillors
- others use simple forms and shareable documents on SharePoint
- others use other case management systems to record data.

Triage

It can be challenging to determine when criticism crosses the line into abuse and when councillors should report this to the council or to the police. They should be encouraged to report if they are in any doubt and

obviously if they are in fear for their safety, they should call 999.

Councils should be prepared and have plans in place to deal with the receipt of threats so that officers can respond quicky and reassure the councillor. This could include basic actions, like being absolutely clear where and how councillors can report a threat, securing as much information as possible about the threat, informing the police, checking in with the individual involved, updating them regularly on what is going on, and being very clear about the role of the police as compared to that of the council.

For lower-level abuse, some councils have taken innovative approaches of using a committee to review abuse received by councillors and determining whether this has crossed the line and warrants an official response from the council. This removed the responsibility for determining thresholds from the individual experiencing the abuse and creates a level of consistency as to how abuse against councillors is dealt with.

Informal and legal actions

If a resident or other individual has crossed the line from legitimate criticism to abuse in a way that may not be criminal but is harmful to the councillor and which the council agrees warrants a response, there are some actions a council could take:

- The council leader or monitoring officer could send a letter to the individual setting out why the behaviour is unacceptable and requesting that they desist from further abuse.
- The council could put in place a single point of contact for the individual where they would be asked not to contact the council again, but communicate with a senior officer instead.
- In multi-councillor wards, the other councillors might agree to take over communications with the individual, allowing the victim of the abuse to disengage.

In extreme circumstances, where an individual continues to abuse an individual, their actions could constitute a criminal offence such as harassment or stalking and a criminal or civil case could be pursued, and an injunction could be placed on an individual instructing them to

desist. However, criminal cases must pass a high threshold for prosecution and civil cases are extremely expensive, may not be successful, and can have unintended consequences. For example, the extreme case of Robert Pickthall who took his own life rather than accepting a prison sentence for breaching an injunction which prevented him from harassing councillors and officers at Cheshire West and Chester Council (case law: Cheshire West and Chester Council v Pickthall (http://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/QB/2015/2141.htm l)).

Durham County Council: Reporting abuse and establishing productive relationships with the police

Durham Council has a strong commitment to protecting councillors from abuse, harassment, and intimidation and takes threats against councillors very seriously. The council's approach to dealing with harassment or abuse of councillors is proportionate to the level of threat using the expertise of the council's legal and health and safety teams to decide how to proceed. This is supported by engagement with the police as appropriate to address serious incidents and provide essential advice and support depending on the severity of the situation.

For example, the council's Monitoring Officer, meets regularly with the Deputy chief constable. This provides an opportunity to flag concerns and share intelligence. In the meetings they discuss any issues related to councillor's experiences of harassment or threats of violence, and the police provide advice and guidance. The police are very responsive to issues that need to be reported in between meetings. Councillors are encouraged to report all incidents of abuse, harassment and intimidation to Members Services even if it is considered to be minor or low level. All such incidents are logged internally and where appropriate with the police. This helps track incidents and identify patterns of behaviour which may pass the threshold for police action.

Member services in consultation with the health and safety team assess the level of threat using a predetermined process. Where the risk is low, the incidents will be logged and appropriate advice given to the councillor (e.g. how to amend social media settings/re-direct or block emails). In more serious cases, which do not meet the threshold for police action, the council will consider whether to take action e.g. writing to the individual and/or seeking an injunction. In serious of cases of abuse harassment and intimidation, the police will take appropriate action.

Where it is considered that an individual's behaviour threatens the immediate safety of councillors or staff, a decision may be taken to place that individual on the Potentially Violent Persons Register. Such behaviour includes conscious, deliberate or malicious acts of violent, aggressive or abusive behaviour towards council employees or councillors. It is possible for those who interact with the public to check whether someone they are due to meet is on the register and what mitigations are in place.

Aftercare and resilience

Peer support

Councillors have a unique position as elected members and do not fit into the usual managerial structures of a council. However, following an incident they may want to speak to someone who understands their position, such as a buddy, a mentor or specific member who has taken responsibility for welfare issues. This works differently in each council, but key examples include:

- Wellbeing champion this could be a senior member who has taken responsibility for the wellbeing of councillors across the council or there could be wellbeing champions in each political group catering to their own members.
- Wellbeing cafés –parish councils in Cornwall have set up wellbeing cafes designed to allow members to come together in an informal

- space to discuss concerns, share experiences and solutions.
- For independent councillors who sit outside formalised political parties, there can be an additional challenge. However, independent councillors may make informal arrangements with other councillors to provide valuable peer support improving wellbeing and reducing stressed caused by independent working.
- Finally, councillors struggling to find peer support within their authority, can request support through the four LGA Political Group Offices (https://www.local.gov.uk/about/our-meetings-a nd-leadership/political-composition/political-groups).

Formal support

Although peer support is an important aspect of aftercare and building resilience, there may also be a need for more formalised support from someone with specific skills, such as a mental health first aider or counsellor. Mental health first aiders are becoming more common and this may be helpful training for councillors and officers in political group offices. Some councils have also allowed councillors access to their employee assistance programmes so they have equal access to counselling support.

Conclusion – what barriers remain?

Councillors' experiences of abuse and intimidation vary, and some councils may experience more issues that others. However, there is clear evidence that abuse of politicians is on the rise across the board and that issues can arise and escalate very quickly. Councils would therefore be prudent to anticipate issues that may occur in the future and prepare to respond to abuse from members of the public. Additionally, this variation of experience means that there is no 'one-size-fits-all' approach to follow, but the general principles we have set out in this report may help councils to consider the level of support their members require and how best to provide this support.

Councillors, political parties, councils and local police all have a role to play in preventing and dealing with abuse targeted against councillors. However, there is also a limit to their power, resources and responsibility

to handle these issues and some things they will not be able to influence.

The behaviour of the public can be influenced and managed but cannot be entirely mitigated against. In addition, it is not against the law to be unpleasant or abusive and for the purposes of protecting freedom of speech the threshold for criminality is high. However, there are some environments where abusive speech and behaviour has the capacity to cause particular personal and democratic damage – notably online, particularly on social media. Cumulative derogatory and abusive comments, which are easily facilitated by online environments, can have a serious impact on individuals and their families, while online misinformation and disinformation can be impossible to contain and may in fact impact the integrity of local democracy itself.

Engagement with police and the variability of police response to abuse against councillors and others in public life was a common theme in this research. Most feedback indicated that the police can be relied on to deal with serious threats to life and violent crime. This is reassuring, but the perception that less serious or immediately threatening crimes are taken much less seriously and in many cases are not addressed at all is pervasive.

The role of the police is to maintain law and order in local areas by protected the public and their property, including preventing crime and reducing the fear of crime. However, we have heard from many sources that the police are not resourced to deal with all crime and this manifests as reports of crimes not being recorded or investigated. This is aggravated by a lack of understanding of the role that councillors fulfil and the associated risks. Within this research we have set of various options for improving relationships with the police and improve the mutual understanding of the role of councillors and the police, however, more is needed to improve consistency and outcomes.

Finally, councillors are a central part of our democratic system.

Residents have high expectations of councillors and entrust them to make decisions that affect their lives. It is therefore vital that councillors are held accountable for their actions and display appropriate

behaviours for leaders and representatives of their council. The vast majority of councillors strive to uphold these standards, understanding the individual and collective responsibility associated with their role. However, this is not universally the case. It is important that political parties and their members set the example of proper conduct and councils have the appropriate processes and powers to deal with breaches of the code of conduct.

Case studies

------ · ------



Supporting councillors through closer working with the police (/case-st udies/supporting-c ouncillors-through-closer-working-police)

North Lincolnshire
Council has
established a robust
and effective
relationship with the
police. The police
have nominated a
senior officer to help
the Monitoring Officer
deal with incidents of
abuse, harassment,
and intimidation.

Case Study

24 Jul 2023



Supporting councillors to use social media safely (/case-studies/supp orting-councillors-u se-social-media-saf ely)

Durham Council has developed a comprehensive social media toolkit that guides councillors on social media use.

Case Study

24 Jul 2023



Collaboration with police and political parties to embed safety in daily activities (/cas e-studies/collaborat ion-police-and-political-parties-embed-s afety-daily-activitie s)

Kirklees Council took a practical approach to dealing with abuse and intimidation of candidates and councillors focusing on engaging more with the police on these issues.

Case Study

24 Jul 2023



Wellbeing support for councillors -Middlesbrough



Reporting abuse and establishing productive relationships with



Crossorganisational working group on councillor safety Council (/case-studi es/wellbeing-suppo rt-councillors-middl esbrough-counci l)

Middlesbrough Council noted the challenging environments and high-pressure decision-making requirements of the councillor role and decided to provide councillors with tools to support their wellbeing, including a tailored forum for councillors to raise concerns and access to 1-2-1 support and the council's staff wellbeing offer.

Case Study

28 Jun 2022

Leeds City
Council: Councillor
Safety Champions
(/case-studies/leeds
-city-council-counci
llor-safety-champio
ns)

the police (/case-st udies/reporting-abu se-and-establishing -productive-relation ships-police)

Durham Council and the local police work collaboratively together to protect councillors from abuse and harassment.

Case Study

24 Jul 2023



Gloucestershire
County Council:
Improving
councillor personal
safety through
training and
development (/case
-studies/gloucester

and "one stop shop" model of support (/case-stud ies/cross-organisati onal-working-group -councillor-safety-a nd-one-stop-shopmodel-support)

Hounslow Council have set up a cross-organisational working group with expert representatives to help identify emerging issues and gaps in support and develop solutions that will help to prevent and deal with these issues when they arise.

Case Study

24 Jul 2023



Cardiff Council:
Councillor safety lone working
devices (/case-studi
es/cardiff-council-c
ouncillor-safety-lon
e-working-device
s)

At Leeds City Council, the Deputy Leader has taken on the role of 'Councillor Safety Champion' to ensure that councillor safety remains at the top of the agenda.

shire-county-counc il-improving-council lor-personal-safetythrough-training)

In response to recent high-profile violence and aggression incidents towards publicly elected officials, Gloucestershire County Council reviewed and redesigned the personal safety approach, training and development offered to local councillors.

Cardiff Council reviewed the relevant safety arrangements and implemented a new system to improve support to councillors during their council business.

Case Study

16 May 2022

Case Study

16 May 2022

Case Study

16 May 2022



Leeds City Council: Venue risk assessments to support councillor safety (/case-studie s/leeds-city-council -venue-risk-assess ments-support-cou ncillor-safety)



Telford and Wrekin Council: A risk-based approach to councillor safety (/c ase-studies/telfordand-wrekin-councilrisk-based-approac h-councillor-safet y)



Eastleigh **Borough Council:** Independent network supporting councillor safety (/c ase-studies/eastleig h-borough-council-i ndependent-networ k-supporting-counc illor-safety)

It is important that councillors feel equipped to manage occasionally aggressive encounters with residents, including taking preventative steps to limit the risk of serious consequences. Leeds City Council helped councillors risk assess venues to ensure that they were safe and find appropriate alternatives if necessary.

Telford and Wrekin Council were faced with a challenging situation in 2019 when they commissioned an inquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation. Councillors were at risk of abuse and aggression from residents and national groups interested in the inquiry. The council took this risk seriously, providing councillors with appropriate and proportionate safety measures depending on the level of risk.

This case study demonstrates how a team of independent councillors replicated the support offered by more traditional party structures to create a safer environment for local independent councillors.

Case Study

16 May 2022

Case Study

10 Jun 2022

Case Study

16 May 2022

Appendix A: Definitions of abuse

Public intimidation is defined by the LGA as "words and/or behaviour intended or likely to block, influence or deter participation in public debate or causing alarm or distress which could lead to an individual wanting to withdraw from public life".

This includes actions of abuse, harassment and intimidation such as:

- verbal abuse
- physical attacks
- being stalked, followed, or loitered around
- threats of harm
- distribution of misinformation

- character assassination
- inappropriate emails, letters, phone calls and communications on social media
- sexual harassment or sexual assault
- Any other threatening behaviours, including malicious communications such as poison pen letters, indecent or grossly offensive emails or graphic pictures that aim to cause distress or anxiety.

Appendix B: Guidance and other documents

- Blaby District Council guide Personal Safety Guidance for Councillors (https://w3.blaby.gov.uk/decision-making/d ocuments/s39158/Personal%20Safety%20for%20Councillors% 20-%20GUIDANCE%20V2.pdf)
- Bradford Metropolitan District Council Guide to Personal Safety for Councillors (https://www.bradford.gov.uk/hands/documents/Safety%20Guidance%20and%20Information/Personal%20Safety%20Councillors%202021.pdf)
- The True Vision website (https://www.report-it.org.uk/home)
 was created because there was an issue with underreporting of
 hate crime that was difficult to quantify. This website makes the
 reporting of hate crime easier. The website also has a special
 section on hate crime during an election. There is accompanying
 HRC guidance on hate crime during the election period. (http
 s://www.reportit.org.uk/hate_crime_during_an_election_perio
 d)
- The Suzy Lamplugh Trust ran the Staying Safe on the Doorstep Campaign (https://www.suzylamplugh.org/staying-safe-on-the-doorstep) for the parliamentary candidates and their staff during the 2015 General Election campaign. The advice is still relevant to any volunteers, staff or candidates of local elections who are seeking who seek to canvass support by knocking on doors. The advice card with safety tips and information is available in their website at no cost. (https://www.suzylamplugh.org/Handl

ers/Download.ashx?IDMF=051ee412-f705-49ad-935a-afd7048b 117a)

Appendix C: List of key stakeholders identified in ecosystem mapping

- 1. CfGS
- 2. Crash Override Network
- 3. Crimestoppers
- 4. Digital-Trust
- 5. Elect Her
- 6. Equality Advisory Support Service
- 7. Fix the Glitch
- 8. Get Safe Online
- 9. Hope Not Hate
- 10. Hourglass
- 11. Jo Cox Foundation
- 12. Paladin National Stalking Advocacy Service
- 13. Protection Against Stalking
- 14. Samaritans
- 15. SARSAS
- 16. Stop Hate UK
- 17. SupportLine
- 18. the National Association of Local Councils (NALC)
- 19. The Suzy Lamplugh Trust
- 20. Unison
- 21. Victim Support
- 22. Victims Choice
- 23. CACH
- 24. Cybersmile
- 25. NPCC National Police Chiefs Council
- 26. True Vision, Hate Crime Independent Advisory Group
- 27. Electoral Commission
- 28. Weightmans
- 29. SOLACE
- 30. LLG
- 31. COSLA/Scottish Police

- 32. Social Media
- 33. Illegal Harms, Hate & Terrorism at Ofcom
- 34. Facebook /Meta
- 35. Instagram
- 36. Twitter
- 37. Association of Police and Crime Commissioners
- 38. Political parties / GO (inc. Individuals who signed Debate Not Hate public statement)
- 39. the Committee on Standards in Public Life (CSPL)
- 40. Association of Labour Councillors
- 41. Compassion in Politics
- 42. the Association of Democratic Services Officers
- 43. the Association of Electoral Administrators
- 44. Employment Related Services Association
- 45. Lawyers in Local Government
- 46. National Hate Crime Awareness Week
- 47. Amnesty International
- 48. Digital Freedom Fund
- 49. eSafety Commissioner
- 50. NDI (National Democratic Institute)
- 51. NetSafe
- 52. SPARC
- 53. THE CYBERSMILE FOUNDATION



Motion submitted and approved at Full Council in February 2023 Motion submitted by Councillor Drayson, Chair of the Audit and Standards Committee

The intimidation and abuse of Councillors, in person or otherwise, undermines democracy; preventing elected Members from representing the communities they serve, deterring individuals from standing for election, and undermining public life in democratic processes.

This Council notes that increasing levels of toxicity in public and political discourse is having a detrimental impact of local democracy and that prevention, support and responses to abuse and intimidation of local politicians must improve to ensure Councillors feel safe and able to continue representing their residents.

This Council therefore commits to challenge the normalisation of abuse against Councillors and officers and uphold exemplary standards of public and political debate in all it does.

The Council further agrees to sign up to the Local Government Association's (LGA) Debate Not Hate campaign. The campaign aims to raise public awareness of the role of Councillors in local communities, encourage healthy debate and improve the response to and support those in public life facing abuse and intimidation.

In addition, this Council resolves to:

- write to our local Members of Parliament to ask them to support the campaign;
- write to the Government to ask them to work with the LGA to develop and implement a plan to address abuse and intimidation of politicians;
- regularly review the support available to Councillors in relation to abuse and intimidation and Councillor safety through the Member Development Task Group;
- work with the local police to ensure there is a clear and joined-up mechanism for reporting threats and other concerns about the safety of Councillors and their families and discuss the need to take a preventative approach that accounts for the specific risks that Councillors face, as they do with other high-risk individuals, like MPs; and
- take a zero-tolerance approach to abuse of Councillors and officers in all forms of communication, be it at face-to-face meetings, at online or telephone meetings, in written communication; in verbal communication and in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and comments.



Rother District Council

Report to: Audit and Standards Committee

Date: 28 February 2024

Title: Revised Statement of Accounts 2022/23

Report of: Aleksandra Janowicz – Principal Accountant

Purpose of Report: This report asks Members to note and approve the revised

Statement of Accounts subject to the opinion of the external auditor, discusses the main issues affecting the Statement and provides a commentary on the core

financial statements.

Officer

Recommendation(s): It be **RESOLVED**: That:

1) the Council's revised 2022/23 Statement of Accounts be approved; and

2) delegated authority be granted to the S151 Officer, in consultation with the Chair of the Audit and Standards Committee, to make minor non-consequential changes to the Statements.

Introduction

1. This report discusses the main issues affecting the Council's draft Statement of Accounts 2022/23 and provides a commentary on the core financial statements. The full draft Statement is published on the Council's website and can be accessed here. Grant Thornton's report on the 2022/23 accounts appears elsewhere on this agenda. The draft accounts include the Annual Governance Statement as amended and approved by the Committee at its meeting on 26 July 2023 (Minute AS23/21 refers).

Audited Statement of Accounts - 2022/23

- 2. At the time of writing this report Grant Thornton had largely completed their work on the 2022/23 accounts. Their Audit Findings Report is shown elsewhere on the agenda and sets out any issues arising from the audit.
- 3. During their audit, Grant Thornton identified two errors relating to bases for revaluations of assets. These have since been corrected. Separately, the Pension Fund's actuary recently submitted their IFRIC 14 assessment as a result of which an asset ceiling was applied resulting in a revised pension liability figure on the balance sheet. Some additional audit work is expected on samples from the Councils Revenues and Benefits system.
- 4. This report seeks approval of the revised Statement of Accounts for 2022/23, subject to the completion of work and opinion of the external auditor. It also requests that delegated authority be granted to the Interim Chief Finance Officer (s151 Officer), in consultation with the Chair of the Audit and Standards Committee, to make minor non-consequential changes to the Statements following final completion of the audit.

Changes to the Format of the Statement of Accounts

5. The Code of Practice has required no major changes in the presentation of the accounts.

Statement of Accounts (circulated separately)

- 6. Detailed below is a brief description of the core financial statements and the issues relating to them.
- 7. Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) this shows the Council's actual financial performance for the year, measured in terms of the resources consumed and generated over the last 12 months. It therefore does not show the "cash" position for the Council and is intended to reflect private sector accounting practice in presenting a profit and loss account. Figures within this statement show the costs incurred in individual service areas but they are significantly different from those presented in budget monitoring reports both due to differences in layout and inclusion of various items which are ignored for council tax setting purposes (depreciation, impairments, amortisation, movements in the value of investment properties, gains and losses on financial assets etc). The statement shows the council had a deficit of £1.626m on provision of services but following additional accounting entries it recorded an overall surplus of £16.204m.
- 8. **Movement in Reserves Statement** – this shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the authority, analysed into Useable Reserves (i.e. those that can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and Unusable reserves such as the revaluation reserve for land and property. It links with the CIES and the balance sheet. The deficit of £1.626m (£1.275m surplus in 2021-22) on the provision of services line shows the true economic costs of providing the authority's services as shown in greater detail in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. However, these are different from the statutory amounts required to be charged to the General Fund Balance for Council Tax setting. That actual charge for 2022-2023 resulted in a £1.578m drawdown from Earmarked Reserves to balance the accounts and it is shown on the face of this statement. Following a review of reserves, the Chief Finance Officer took the discretionary decision to transfer £4.0m from Treasury Investment Earmarked Reserve to the General Fund to increase the latter's balance to £5.0m and reinforce the long standing message that the general reserve balance should not go below that level.
- 9. **Balance Sheet** this is fundamental to the understanding of the Council's year-end financial position. It shows the balances and reserves at the Council's disposal and its long-term indebtedness, the net current assets employed in its operations and summarised information on the fixed assets held. The net worth of the Council has increased by £16.204m from £65.754m total reserves balance at the end of 2021-2022 to £81.958m at the end of 2022-2023. The value of the change directly corresponds to the surplus being reported at the bottom of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the increase in reserves line reported within Movement in Reserves statement discussed above. The main reason for this positive change is a £16.309m decrease in the Pension Fund Liability (a reduction from £18.051m liability to £1.742m liability). The remaining balance is a result of £2.5m of decreases in other unusable reserves and £2.4m increase in usable reserves where £4m increase to Capital receipts and capital grant reserve has largely offset the

Page 64
AS240228 – Revised Statement of Accounts 22723

- £1.578m transfer from Earmarked Reserves to support the revenue budget in 2022-2023. A detailed analysis of the Council's earmarked reserves is shown in the notes to the accounts (Note 10).
- 10. The Pension Fund liability of £18.051m shown in the Balance Sheet at the end of 2021-2022 has now improved and represents a liability of £1.742m. Actuary figures pointed to the liability changing into an asset, however, for accounting and prudence purposes a pension asset ceiling was applied resulting in this final figure. This entry represents a long-term financial assessment of a possible shortfall or surplus on the Fund, based on the current situation and performance. Just as in previous years there was no immediate action that was required to manage the deficit, the liability is not something that we have control over or that can affect the revenue budget. Its value is reflected in the Unusable Reserves section of the Balance Sheet.
- 11. **Cash Flow Statement** – this brings together in a single statement the inflows and outflows of cash arising from the Council's transactions with third parties for revenue, investment and capital purposes. Under International Financial Reporting Standards, the statement only reflects those flows of funds directly related to the Council. Where the Council acts as an agent, as in the case of collecting the Council Tax on behalf of precepting authorities, these inflows and outflows of cash are excluded.
- 12. **Collection Fund Income and Expenditure Account –** this reflects a statutory requirement for the Council, which collects the local taxes, to maintain a separate account in relation to Business Rates and the Council Tax and their distribution. Overall the Collection Fund balance at year end was a deficit of £3.676m (a reduction in deficit by £0.418m from £4.094m last year). This balance is made up of the Council Tax fund surplus of £2.600m the majority of which will be shared with East Sussex County Council. For Business Rates the Fund balance was in deficit of £6.276m, with the Government sharing its highest proportion followed by this Council. The majority of the NNDR deficit relates to the additional rate relief for businesses provided by the Government in 2020-2021 due to the COVID-19 Pandemic, which at the time halved the amount collectable. That deficit was spread over three financial years and is still part of the 2022/23 accounts. The impact is has been mitigated through the additional Government grants received and accounted for in year through the General Fund. £1m worth of those grants was used this year to create a Business Rates Volatility Reserve to help towards the impact of the deficit in future years.

Conclusion

13. The Balance Sheet shows that overall the financial position of the Authority still remains sound with an adequate amount of reserves in place to meet short term needs. However, the impact of high inflation on operational costs and the worsening economic climate have added to the previous financial pressures of the Covid 19 pandemic and the level of Usable Reserves continued to go down in the year despite efforts to minimise it. The next Medium Term Financial Plan needs to address that through a robust and ambitious plan of achievable savings to stop the trend, reduce the reliance on reserve balances to support the revenue budget and, in time, replenish these reserves.

Other Implication	ons <i>i</i>	Applies?	Other Implications	Applies?
Human Rights		No	Equalities and Diversity	No
Crime and Disorder		No	Consultation	No
Environmental		No	Access to Information	No
Sustainability		No	Exempt from publication	No
Risk Management		No		
Chief Executive:	Lorna Ford			
Report Contact	Aleksandra	Janowic	z, Principal Accountant	
Officer:			•	
e-mail address:	aleksandra	.janowicz	<u>@rother.gov.uk</u>	
Appendices:	None.			
Relevant Previous	None.			
Minutes:				
Background Papers:	None.			
Reference	Local Gove	rnment A	ccounting Code of Practice 20	022/23 and
Documents:	associated	guidance		

Rother District Council

Report to: Audit and Standards Committee

Date: 28 February 2024

Title: Amendment to the Constitution – Function of the Licensing

and General Purposes Committee

Report of: Lorna Ford, Chief Executive

Purpose of Report: To present an amendment to the Constitution for approval

and adoption.

Officer

Recommendation(s): Recommendation to COUNCIL: That the functions of the

Licensing and General Purposes Committee at Part 3 of the Constitution be amended by the removal of the setting

of the Hackney Carriage Fares.

Introduction

1. As Members are aware, the responsibility for considering and recommending changes to the Constitution sits with the Audit and Standards Committee (A&SC), as set out in Article 15 of the Constitution.

2. Following a recent publication concerning best practice guidelines for licensing authorities, it is necessary to amend the functions of the Licensing and General Purposes Committee contained within Part 3 of the Constitution.

Change to the Constitution

- 3. In November 2023, the Department for Transport published Taxi and private hire vehicle licensing best practice guidance for licensing authorities in England. The guidance confirms that, unlike most licensing functions, the setting of fares that hackney carriages licensed by the authority can charge is an executive function and should therefore be determined by Cabinet and not the Licensing and General Purposes Committee.
- 4. A copy of the full guidance can be found at this link:

 Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing Best Practice Guidance
- 5. The Licensing and General Purposes Committee has undertaken this function since the introduction of the Cabinet system in 2001 as it must have been an optional (local choice function) at that time.
- 6. However, following confirmation within the published guidelines that this is an executive function, the functions of the Licensing and General Purposes Committee requires amendment by the removal of this function, as shown at Appendix A.

Risk Management

7. The Council is required to always have an up-to-date and lawful Constitution available. The risk of having a Constitution that is out of date or not in accordance with legislation / best practice may lead to potential challenge, maladministration and reputational damage. It is important to keep the provisions within the Constitution under review and make appropriate recommendations for change in light of experience and legal advice.

Conclusion

8. Members are asked to recommend the necessary amendment to Council.

Other Implicat	ions Applies	Other Implications	Applies?
		•	
Human Rights	No	Equalities and Diversity	No
Crime and Disorder	No	Consultation	No
Environmental	No	Access to Information	No
Risk Management	Yes	Exempt from publication	No
Chief Executive:	Lorna Ford		
Report Contact	Lisa Cooper, Demo	ocratic Services Manager	
Officer:	•	Q	

Appendix A – Functions of the Licensing and General Purposes

lisa.cooper@rother.gov.uk

Committee

e-mail address:

Appendices:

Minutes:

5. Licensing and General Purposes Committee

5.1 **Membership**: 12 Members of the Council.

5.2 Mandatory Licensing and General Purposes Committee Training

Members appointed to the Licensing and General Purposes Committee must attend mandatory licensing training, as prescribed by Legal Services before being selected to serve on a Licensing Panel. It will also be necessary for Members to attend continuous refresher training as and when provided.

5.3 Functions and Delegations

To carry out all of the Council's functions as set out below and take all decisions except those delegated to the officers, provided that:

- (a) Any Member of the Council (who is not a Member of the Committee) may speak at meetings of the Committee on an issue which alone affects the Ward which the Member represents on the Council;
- (b) Any other Member of the Council (who is not a Member of the Committee) may speak at meetings of the Committee only on invitation by the Chair of the Committee;
 - 1. To recommend to Council the adoption of statutory Licensing Policies.
 - 2. To set fees and charges for licences and permits.
 - 3. To adopt standard conditions for licences.
 - 4. To designate consent and prohibited streets for the purposes of street trading.
 - 5. To agree hackney carriage fares.
 - 6. Duties and powers in relation to elections and parish councils.
 - 7. Any other duties or powers not being an Executive function or function of another committee.



Rother District Council

Report to: Audit and Standards Committee

Date: 28 February 2024

Title: Amendment to the Constitution - Procurement and

virement thresholds

Report of: Interim Deputy Chief Executive

Purpose of Report: To present an amendment to the Constitution for approval

and adoption.

Officer

Recommendation(s): Recommendation to COUNCIL: That:

1) the procurement thresholds as outlined within paragraphs 6 and 7 be approved;

- 2) delegated authority is provided to the Deputy Chief Executive (s151) in consultation with the Portfolio holder for Finance and Governance to ensure that any further changes to reflect the recommendations made in (1) above can be progressed; and
- 3) the virement thresholds as outlined within paragraph 15 be approved.

Introduction

- 1. As Members are aware, the responsibility for considering and recommending changes to the Constitution now sits with the Audit and Standards Committee (A&SC), as set out in Article 15 of the Constitution.
- 2. Following a review of the procurement thresholds and the virement limits by the Interim Deputy Chief Executive (s151), this report contains recommendations to improve the efficiency and speed of decision making.

Changes to the Constitution

Procurement thresholds

- 3. The procurement thresholds are covered within the Constitution under part 4-7 Procurement Procedure Rules. Paragraph 4.2.1 identifies four different contract types according to the contract value (total value payable over the period of the contract). Sections 4.7 4.10 then identify the procurement process to be followed for each.
- 4. It is officers' view that the current thresholds are too low and should be raised to both increase the speed at which contracts can be secured and commenced and to also reduced the administrative burden required in terms of quotation and tender exercises for what are comparatively low contract values. These changes would also reduce the need for procurement exemptions which also add to the administrative burden.

- 5. The changes would also bring our thresholds into line with the local government reporting requirements for Contracts Finder, the central Government procurement portal.
- 6. The table below summarises the current position and the proposed changes for ease of reference. The process for the four contract types would be the same, the recommendation would just be adjusting the threshold at which the different processes become relevant. It is also proposed that the new thresholds include VAT.

Туре	Α	В	С	D
Value	<£5,000	£5,000 -	£50,000 to <	UK threshold
		£49,999	UK threshold	for goods and
			for goods and	services
			services	
Process	1 quote	3 quotes	Full tender	Full UK
				compliant tender
Proposed cha	Proposed changes (all now including VAT)			
Value	< £25,000	£25,000 -	£100,000 to <	UK threshold
		£99,999	UK threshold	for goods and
			for goods and	services
			services	
Process	1 quote	3 quotes	Full tender	Full UK
				compliant tender

- 7. As part of these changes it is also recommended that we introduce the ability for the Chief Executive Officer, in consultation with the Leader of the Council, to be given authority to sign off concession and construction contracts under £200k.
- 8. Following the end of the Brexit Transition Period, the EU procurement regulations were amended by the Public Procurement (Amendment etc.) (EU Exit) Regulations 2020 SI 1319 ("PPAR 2020") to address deficiencies arising from the UK's withdrawal from the EU. The current thresholds applicable to local authorities are outlined below (due to be updated from January 2024) and now include VAT whereas previously they did not;

Works contracts
 Services and supplies contracts
 £5,336,937
 £213,477

- 9. New updated legislation is expected to be brought into force during the current calendar year and the Procurement Hub are looking to provide a further more detailed update to the Procurement Procedure Rules in the autumn.
- 10. The changes outlined above capture the fundamental recommendations; there is still a requirement to ensure that there is no further knock on impact of the changes in terms of the overall procurement advice and guidance. It is therefore recommended that delegated authority is provided to the Deputy Chief Executive (s151) in consultation with the Portfolio holder for Finance and Governance to ensure that any further changes to reflect the recommendations made above can be progressed.

Virement limits

- 11. The Council's budget virement limits are covered within the Constitution under part 4-6 Financial Procedure Rules (section B, page 90). Paragraph B3 identifies the current virement limits Cabinet, B4 covers the Chief Finance Officer (CFO), B5 covers reporting requirements and B6 provides the authorisation limits for other officers.
- 12. The table below summarises the current position and the proposed changes for ease of reference.

	Cabinet (B3)	Full Council (B3)	CFO (B4)	Other officers (B6)
Current threshold	£250,000	>£250,000	£50,000	£10k - £25k
Proposed threshold	£500,000	>£500,000	£100,000	£20k - £50k

- 13. The proposals effectively double the current virement limits which, given the Council has a gross service budget of c.£44m, do not seem unreasonable and would provide officers with additional flexibility in terms of operational budget decisions without having the need to revert to Committee.
- 14. It should be noted that these changes relate to virements which are movements within the agreed budget and reserve policy framework. This would not allow officers to make changes outside of the framework.
- 15. It is therefore recommended to make the following adjustments to the sections identified above;

4-6 Financial Procedure Rules (B3 – B6)

Responsibilities of Cabinet

B.3 Cabinet may vire to other purposes amounts provided within the approved annual revenue estimates, except that where the amount of any single diversion exceeds £500,000 £250,000, the approval of Council is required.

Responsibilities of the Chief Finance Officer

- B.4 To have authority to vire to other purposes amounts provided within the approved annual revenue estimates provided that the amount of any single virement shall not exceed £100,000 £50,000.
- B.5 To make regular reports to Cabinet detailing all virements exceeding £50,000 £25,000.

Responsibilities of Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive, Director – Place and Climate Change and *Heads of Service*

B.6 Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive, Director - Place and Climate Change to have authority, within the approved revenue estimates coming under their responsibility, to vire up to £50,000 £25,000 for any single diversion. Heads of Service to have authority, within the approved revenue estimates coming under their responsibility, to vire up to £20,000 £10,000 for any single diversion. All virements subsequently must be notified to the Chief Finance Officer. All requests for virements over £100,000 £50,000 must be submitted to the Chief Finance Officer for Cabinet and/or Council approval.

Consultation

- 16. The changes proposed within this report have been discussed and agreed with the following key stakeholders;
 - Internal audit;
 - East Sussex Procurement Hub;
 - Democratic Services Manager;
 - Senior Leadership Team;
 - Corporate Management Team;
 - Finance team; and
 - Monitoring Officer.

Conclusion

- 17. The proposed changes will help to streamline and improve the efficiency and speed of decision making in respect of both procurement and budget virements.
- 18. Members are asked to recommend the necessary amendment to Council.

Other Implications	Applies?	Other Implications	Applies?
Human Rights	No	Equalities and Diversity	No
Crime and Disorder	No	Consultation	No
Environmental	No	Access to Information	No
Risk Management	Yes	Exempt from publication	No

Chief Executive:	Lorna Ford
Report Contact	Duncan Ellis, Interim Deputy Chief Executive
Officer:	·
e-mail address:	duncan.ellis@rother.gov.uk
Appendices:	None.
Relevant previous	
Minutes:	

Rother District Council

Report to: Audit and Standards Committee

Date: 28 February 2024

Title: Homes England 2023/24 Compliance Audit Programme

Report of: Joe Powell, Head of Service Housing & Regeneration

Purpose of Report: To present an update from a recent Homes England audit

of the Rough Sleeping Accommodation Programme

(RSAP)

Officer

Recommendation(s): It be **RESOLVED**: That the report be noted.

Introduction

- 1. This report provides the outcome from the Homes England audit of the Rough Sleeping Accommodation Programme (RSAP). The RSAP was delivered by Homes England in collaboration with the Department of Levelling Up Housing and Communities (DLUHC) in support of the Government's wider objectives to end rough sleeping.
- 2. The Council was successful in its bid to the RSAP 2022 and was awarded £391,050 of match funding. The Council was able to use this match funding to purchase four properties and provide supported accommodation to former rough sleepers. As part of RSAP 2022, we were also awarded funding of up to £30,000 so that residents can be supported in their homes. The support is delivered through the local East Sussex Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI), which brings together a range of service providers and agencies from across Housing, Health, Social Care and the wider voluntary and community sector.

Details

- 3. The purpose of the Compliance Audit report is to confirm that grant recipients have met Homes England's funding conditions and contractual requirements and have properly exercised their responsibilities as set out in the Capital Funding Guide.
- 4. Homes England selected one of our RSAP schemes that was purchased in Spring 2023, and that joined the RSI support contract from June 2023.
- 5. The report has to be noted by the Audit and Standards Committee by 17 April 2024, before the Compliance Audit Lead can acknowledge the report with Homes England.
- 6. We achieved a green rating with no breaches identified (please see Appendix A).

Financial Implications

7. Homes England use the audit findings to inform their future investment decisions and to reassure the Homes England Chief Accounting Officer that public funds have been properly used.

Conclusion

Documents:

8. On review of the evidence provided, the outcome of the audit has shown we have complied with all the programme requirements and guidance. A GREEN grade has been assigned and no breaches were identified.

Other Implication	ons	Applies?	Other Implications	Applies?
Human Rights		No	Equalities and Diversity	No
Crime and Disorder		No	External Consultation	No
Environmental		No	Access to Information	No
Risk Management		No	Exempt from publication	No
Chief Executive:	Lorna F	ord		
Report Contact	Kathryn	Harlow		
Officer:	•			
e-mail address:	kathryn	.harlow@roth	ner.gov.uk	
Appendices:	Α	Compliance A	Audit Report 2023/24	
Delevent Descions	NI			
Relevant Previous	None			
Minutes:				
Background Papers:	None			
Reference	None			



Compliance Audit Report – 2023/24

5119 - ROTHER DISTRICT COUNCIL

Final Grade	Green - Meets requirements	
Independent Auditor Organisation	Grant Thornton	
Independent Auditor Name	Nicholas White	

Report Purpose and Objectives

The purpose of the Compliance Audit report is to confirm that grant recipients have met Homes England's funding conditions and contractual requirements and have properly exercised their responsibilities as set out in the Capital Funding Guide.

We use the audit findings (which are confidential between Homes England and the grant recipient) to inform our future investment decisions and to reassure the Homes England Chief Accounting Officer that public funds have been properly used.

Where findings have been determined as breaches they are then used as the basis for recommendations and final grades for Providers. Grades of green, amber or red are awarded; definitions are provided at the end of this report. Where applicable the Provider is to use the recommendations to prevent similar breaches from reoccurring in the future and to aid good governance for complying with Homes England's policies, procedures and funding conditions.

Information about the audit process and guidance is available at: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/compliance-audit

Compliance Audit Grade and Judgement Summary

Final Grade	Green - Meets requirements
Judgement Summary	On review of the evidence provided, the outcome of the audit has shown the provider has complied with all the programme requirements and guidance. A GREEN grade has been assigned and no breaches were identified.



Scheme/Completions details

Scheme ID/ Completion ID	Address/Site ID	Scheme type
1086360		Next Steps Accommodation - Capital

Audit Results

Number of Schemes/Completions Audited	1
Number of Breaches Assigned	0
Number of High Severity Breaches	0
Number of Medium Severity Breaches	0
Number of Low Severity Breaches	0

Provider's Acknowledgement of Report

The contents of this report including all recommendations must be acknowledged by your **Board's** Chair or equivalent. Confirmation of this acknowledgement must be recorded in the IMS Compliance Audit System by your Compliance Audit Lead no later **than three calendar months** of the report email notification being sent.

Report acknowledged by:

Date:

Confidentiality

The information contained within this report has been compiled purely to assist Homes England in its statutory duty relating to the payment of grant to the Provider. Homes England accepts no liability for the accuracy or completeness of any information contained within this report. This report is confidential between Homes England and the Provider and no third party can place any reliance upon it.

Compliance Audit Grade Definitions



	breaches identified. The Homes England audit report shows that the provider has a satisfactory overall performance but may identify areas where minor improvements are required.
Amber Grade	One or more medium severity breaches identified. The Homes England audit report will shows that the provider has failed to meet some requirements but has not misapplied public money. The provider will be expected to correct identified problem(s) in future schemes and current developments.
Red Grade	One or more high level severity breaches identified, the Homes England audit report shows that the provider has failed to meet some requirements and there has been a risk of misapplication of public funds.



AUDIT AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE

WORK PROGRAMME 2023 – 2024			
DATE OF COMMITTEE	SUBJECT		
	 Part A – Standards Reports Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Complaints Monitoring Debate Not Hate: Ending Abuse in Public Life for Councillors 		
28 February 2024	 Part B - Audit Reports Grant Thornton - Audit Findings Report 2022/23 Revised Statement of Accounts 2022/23 Amendment to the Constitution - Function of the Licensing and General Purposes Committee Amendment to the Constitution - Procurement and Virement Thresholds Homes England 2023/24 Compliance Audit Programme 		
	Part A – Standards Reports (none scheduled)		
Monday 25 March 2024	 Part B – Audit Reports Grant Thornton – Audit Progress Report and Sector Update Grant Thornton – Annual Audit Report 2022/23 Grant Thornton - External Audit Plan 2023/24 Internal Audit Report to 31 December 2023 Internal Audit Plan 2024/25 Review of Internal Audit 2023/24 Treasury Management Update Annual Report from the Rother DC Housing Company Shareholders Representative Group 		
WORK PROGRAMME 2024 – 2025			
Monday 17 June 2024	 Part A – Standards Reports Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Complaints Monitoring Code of Conduct Complaints Monitoring and other Standards Matters Draft Annual Report to Council – Ethical Standards Matters 		
	 Part B – Audit Reports Internal Audit – Annual Report and Opinion 2023/24 2023/24 Statement of Accounts – Audit Planning Risk Assessment Risk Management Update Self-Assessment Annual Review 		

	Property Investment Strategy Update
	Part A – Standards Reports (none scheduled)
Wednesday 24 July 2024	 Part B – Audit Reports Audit and Standards Committee Annual Report Statement of Accounts 2023/24 Annual Governance Statement 2023/24 Treasury Management Update – 2023/24 Outturn Treasury Management Update
	Part A – Standards Reports (none scheduled)
Monday 30 September 2024	 Part B – Audit Reports Grant Thornton – Audit Progress Report and Sector Update Internal Audit Report to 30 June 2024 Treasury Management Update Risk Management Update
Monday 2 December 2024	 Part A – Standards Reports Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Complaints Monitoring Code of Conduct Complaints Monitoring and other Standards Matters Self-Assessment of Rother District Council Owned/Leased Accommodation Complaints Handling Part B – Audit Reports Grant Thornton – Audit Findings Report 2023/24 Internal Audit Report to 30 September 2024
	Part A – Standards Reports (none scheduled)
Monday 24 March 2025	 Part B – Audit Reports Grant Thornton – Audit Progress Report and Sector Update Grant Thornton – Annual Audit Report 2023/24 Grant Thornton - External Audit Plan 2024/25 Internal Audit Report to 31 December 2024 Internal Audit Plan 2025/26 Review of Internal Audit 2024/25 Property Investment Strategy Update Treasury Management Update Annual Report from the Rother DC Housing Company Shareholders Representative Group